
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

CITY HALL AUDITORIUM, 250 NORTH 5TH STREET 
 

TUESDAY, APRIL 14, 2009, 6:00 P.M. 
 

 
Call to Order 
 
 Welcome.  Items listed on this agenda will be given consideration by the City 

of Grand Junction Planning Commission.  Please turn off all cell phones 
during the meeting. 

 
 In an effort to give everyone who would like to speak an opportunity to 

provide their testimony, we ask that you try to limit your comments to 3-5 
minutes.  If someone else has already stated your comments, you may 
simply state that you agree with the previous statements made.  Please do 
not repeat testimony that has already been provided.  Inappropriate behavior, 
such as booing, cheering, personal attacks, applause, verbal outbursts or 
other inappropriate behavior, will not be permitted. 

 
 Copies of the agenda and staff reports are available on the table located at 

the back of the Auditorium. 
 
Announcements, Presentations, and/or Prescheduled Visitors 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
 Items on the consent agenda are items perceived to be non-controversial in 

nature and meet all requirements of the Codes and regulations and /or the 
applicant has acknowledged complete agreement with the recommended 
conditions. 

 
 The consent agenda will be acted upon in one motion, unless the applicant, a 

member of the public, a Planning Commissioner or staff requests that the 
item be removed from the consent agenda.  Items removed from the consent 
agenda will be reviewed as a part of the regular agenda.  Consent agenda 
items must be removed from the consent agenda for a full hearing to be 
eligible for appeal or rehearing. 

 
1. Minutes of Previous Meetings Attach 1 
 
 Approve the minutes of the February 24, 2009 Regular Meeting. 
 
 

To access the Agenda and Backup Materials electronically, go to www.gjcity.org 

http://www.gjcity.org/
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2. Cell Hub Site – Conditional Use Permit Attach 2 
Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit of a site plan to locate antennas on 
an existing tower in a C-2 (General Commercial) zone district. 
 
FILE #: CUP-2009-055 
PETITIONER: Joe Rozanc – SBA Towers, LLC 
LOCATION: 1600 Ute Avenue 
STAFF: Ronnie Edwards 
 

3. Lookout Point Subdivision – Preliminary Subdivision Plan Attach 3 
Request approval of the Preliminary Subdivision Plan to develop 5 single family lots 
on 1.82 acres in an R-4 (Residential 4 du/ac) zone district. 
 
FILE #: PFP-2008-233 
PETITIONER: Jay Kee Jacobson – Gemini Development, LLC 
LOCATION: 2953 Highway 50 
STAFF: Lori Bowers 
 

4. North Commercial Drive Co-locate – Conditional Use Permit Attach 4 
Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit of a site plan to locate antennas on 
an existing tower in a C-2 (General Commercial) zone district. 
 
FILE #: CUP-2009-059 
PETITIONER: Joe Rozanc – SBA Towers, LLC 
LOCATION: 587 North Commercial Drive 
STAFF: Judith Rice 
 

5. Jones Right-of-Way Vacation – Vacation of Right-of-Way Attach 5 
Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate .62 acres of an 
undeveloped portion of 27 Road located south of Caribbean Drive and north of H 
Road. 
 
FILE #: VR-2009-043 
PETITIONER: Janice Jones 
LOCATION: 821 27 Road 
STAFF: Greg Moberg 
 

* * * END OF CONSENT CALENDAR * * * 
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* * * ITEMS NEEDING INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION * * * 
 
Public Hearing Items 

 
On the following items the Grand Junction Planning Commission will make the final 
decision or a recommendation to City Council.  If you have an interest in one of 
these items or wish to appeal an action taken by the Planning Commission, please 
call the Public Works and Planning Department (244-1430) after this hearing to 
inquire about City Council scheduling. 

 
6. Country Squire II Subdivision and Vacation of Utility and Irrigation Easement – 

Preliminary Plan and Vacation of Easement Attach 6 
Request approval of the Preliminary Subdivision Plan to develop 45 lots on 17 acres 
in an R-4 (Residential 4 du/ac) zone district and request a recommendation of 
approval to City Council to vacate a Utility and Irrigation Easement. 
 
FILE #: PP-2008-054 
PETITIONER: Kenton Page 
LOCATION: 2074 Broadway, 2076 Ferree Drive 
STAFF: Scott Peterson 
 

General Discussion/Other Business 
 
Nonscheduled Citizens and/or Visitors 
 
Adjournment 
 



Attach 1 
Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 

GRAND JUNCTION PLANNING COMMISSION 
FEBRUARY 24, 2009 MINUTES 

6:00 p.m. to 8:27 p.m. 
 
 

The regularly scheduled Planning Commission hearing was called to order at 6:00 p.m. 
by Chairman Cole.  The public hearing was held in the City Hall Auditorium. 
 
In attendance, representing the City Planning Commission, were Roland Cole 
(Chairman), William Putnam (Vice-Chairman), Reggie Wall, Patrick Carlow, Ebe Eslami 
and Mark Abbott.  Commissioner Lynn Pavelka-Zarkesh was absent. 
 
In attendance, representing the City’s Public Works and Planning Department – 
Planning Division, were Greg Moberg (Planning Services Supervisor), Lisa Cox 
(Planning Manager), Scott Peterson (Senior Planner), Senta Costello (Senior Planner), 
Ronnie Edwards (Associate Planner), Michelle Hoshide (Associate Planner) and Rick 
Dorris (Development Engineer). 
 
Also present was Jamie Beard (Assistant City Attorney). 
 
Lynn Singer was present to record the minutes. 
 
There were 68 interested citizens present during the course of the hearing. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS, PRESENTATIONS AND/OR VISITORS 
 
There were no announcements, presentations and/or visitors. 
 
Consent Agenda 
 
1. Minutes of Previous Meetings 
 Approve the minutes of the January 27, 2009 Regular Meeting. 
 
2. Reimer Annexation – Zone of Annexation 

Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to zone .081 acres from 
County RSF-R (Residential Single Family Rural) to a City I-1 (Light Industrial) zone 
district. 
FILE #: ANX-2009-006 
PETITIONERS: Ryan Reimer 
LOCATION: 2751 Riverside Parkway 
STAFF: Michelle Hoshide 
 

3. Perf O Log Office/Warehouse Facility – Conditional Use Permit 



 

 

Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the storage of 
Hazardous and Explosive materials on 2.35 acres in an I-1 (Light Industrial) zone 
district. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-088 
PETITIONER: Walid B. Boumatar – Interstate Commercial Park LLP 
LOCATION: 2309, 2311 Interstate Avenue 
STAFF: Ronnie Edwards 
 

4. FedEx Office/Warehouse – Conditional Use Permit 
Request approval for a Conditional Use Permit to allow an office/warehouse on 3.8 
acres in an I-O (Industrial Office) zone district located within the Noise Zone 
(Subdistrict B) of the Airport Environs Overlay Zoning District. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-380 
PETITIONER: Diane Schwenke – Colorado West Improvements 
LOCATION: 825, 829 Justice Court 
STAFF: Ronnie Edwards 
 

5. Wynshp Alley Vacation – Vacation of Right-of-Way 
Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate the .04 acre alley 
north of Winters Avenue between South 7th and South 8th Streets. 
FILE #: VR-2008-089 
PETITIONER: Deborah Shipley – Wynshp Enterprises, LLC 
LOCATION: 946 South 7th Street 
STAFF: Senta Costello 
 

Chairman Cole briefly explained the Consent Agenda and invited the public, planning 
commissioners, and staff to speak if they wanted any item pulled for additional 
discussion.  After discussion, there were no objections or revisions received from the 
audience or Planning Commissioners on the Consent Agenda items. 
 
MOTION: (Commissioner Wall) “Mr. Chairman, I move that we approve the 
Consent Agenda.” 
 
Commissioner Putnam seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion passed 
unanimously by a vote of 6 - 0. 
 
Public Hearing Items 
 
6. Bar/Nightclub & Office/Warehouse – Conditional Use Permit 

Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a bar/nightclub in an I-1 (Light 
Industrial) zone district.  Remanded back by City Council at the January 21, 2009 
meeting. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-158 
PETITIONER: Kevin Eardley 
LOCATION: 2256, 2258 Colex Drive 
STAFF: Senta Costello 



 

 

 
VERBATIM MINUTES 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  The first item on the hearing agenda tonight is 

a bar nightclub and office warehouse conditional use permit.  Request approval of a 

conditional use permit for a bar/nightclub in an I-1, Light Industrial, zone district.  This 

was remanded back by City Council at the January 21st, 2009 meeting.  In the interest 

of full disclosure, I received a personal letter from one of the adversaries of this 

application and this…it was primarily concerning my candidacy for City Council.  During 

the conversation this item did come up and he did…we did talk a little bit about it.  He 

presented no new evidence.  At the end of it I believe I could honestly say we agreed to 

disagree and…and that’s the way it was and if…if the applicant has a problem with me 

participating in this hearing, why please indicate so.  Okay, we’ll move on with…with this 

item.  It’s item number 6.  Well, wait a minute, no.  It isn’t either. I ’m sorry.  Is it? 

MS. COX:  Yes, it’s item number 6. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  It is item 6, yes.  Okay, we…let me just say 

before we get started we have a very thick book here of items that have been discussed 

for this…this particular application.  We have the verbatim transcripts from the meetings 

that have been held previously concerning this item.  We have letters that have been 

sent from the time this item began to be considered and we have all the recent letters 

as well.  I guess my question would be what else can be said.  We would ask that you 

when you come forward to testify when we get to that point that you try to give us new 

evidence that we haven’t already heard before.  So with that, Senta, are you going to 

make the presentation to begin with or is the applicant? 



 

 

MS. BEARD:  Mr. Chairman, if I may I wanted to speak just a few 

comments before we got started. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay. 

MS. BEARD:  Good evening.  I’m Jamie Beard, the Assistant City 

Attorney, and just wanted to talk a little bit simply because these matters don’t come 

back to us this often usually.  This is unusual circumstances; however, I wanted to 

remind that when an appeal is done in an application process the appeal that went to 

City Council was not for City Council to make a ruling on whether or not this C-U-P was 

to have been granted.  When the appeal is done what City Council’s job is is to look at 

the decision that was made by the Planning Commissioners and say was there enough 

information, testimony and evidence on the record for the Planning Commission to have 

made the decision that they made and is it clear based on the record what they relied 

on in making their decision.  And when they remanded this matter back to you this time 

what they were looking at was…when they reviewed it was to say that they felt that 

some of that information on the record was missing. 

Even though there were some commissioners that had denied the 

application and some that approved it particularly in those in this instance when it was a 

denial, they were hard pressed to find some of the information in there to say okay, this 

is the criteria on which they relied on in saying that the application should not be 

approved because that criteria was not met. 

So we would ask this evening to keep in mind when you’re listening to all 

the testimony and when you’re making your decisions that you look back to the criteria 

that must be met for granting a conditional use permit and decide on your own…in your 



 

 

own minds has each of the criteria been met.  And if they haven’t been met then 

indicate to us what it is that hasn’t been met and why in your opinion that it hasn’t been 

met. 

City Council has not asked you to make a decision one way or the other.  

What they’ve done is ask you to follow the criteria and then give us the information or 

give to City Council if there would be another appeal what that information is, what that 

evidence is, that you relied on or what the lack of evidence was that made you decide 

that the criteria has not been met.  So please keep in mind, I won’t go through a listing 

again what the criteria is.  I know you’ve heard it before.  You had it in your staff report 

and I believe that Senta Costello, the planner, will be telling you again here this evening 

what it is.  But if you have any questions or concerns throughout the meeting in regards 

to that, please question one of the staff members or ask me if there’s anything that we 

might be able to help to clarify for you when making those decisions.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Okay, Senta?  You can see she 

has a pretty good file there too. 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM: You need a forklift. 

MS. COSTELLO:  Good evening, members of the Planning 

Commission, Chairman.  Senta Costello, Public Works and Planning Department.  This 

item as stated is a request for a bar nightclub.  The site where the request is located is 

the northeast corner of G Road and Colex Drive.  The specific address is 2256 Colex 

Drive.  Let’s see.  The existing site as you can see by the aerial is currently vacant as 

are a majority of the surrounding properties to the north and west.  The Future Land 

Use designation for the property is Commercial Industrial as are the surrounding 



 

 

properties and the existing zoning on the property is 1.  The properties to the north, 

west and east are also zoned I-1 and the property to the south is zoned C-2. 

I’d like to start off the presentation after showing those slides with a little 

history on how we got to the hearing tonight and then I’ll go through some of the specific 

code requirements that were reviewed for whether this property was suitable for this 

type of use and whether the code requirements had been met. 

The first time that Planning Commission saw this request was at its 

August 12th Planning Commission hearing.  At that hearing Planning Commission did 

deny the request based on the definition of a neighborhood and incompatibility with the 

neighborhood and the definition for neighborhood being basically the entire city.  At the 

November 5th, 2008 City Council hearing that was held in response to the applicant’s 

appeal of the August 12th denial, City Council remanded the request back to Planning 

Commission with the instructions to narrow the scope of the definition of neighborhood 

to that as defined by the Zoning and Development Code. 

The item was then again heard before Planning Commission on 

November 25th and denied again based on incompatibility with surrounding properties 

being the reason given.  The applicant again appealed that decision to City Council and 

at its January 21st, 2009 meeting remanded it back to Planning Commission with the 

instructions to give more specific reasons why this particular project at this particular 

site was incompatible with the surrounding properties. 

With that, I’d like to go into a little bit of the code requirements and the 

review that was done for this project.  There are three classifications within the Zoning 

and Development Code for how we look at uses and whether they’re allowed, not 



 

 

allowed, et cetera.  They are - - not allowed which are uses which are determined to be 

inappropriate in specific zone districts; uses that are allowed by right.  Those uses have 

been determined by Council as being uses that are similar enough to each other that 

they don’t need special consideration.  And then uses which are considered…I’m 

sorry…conditionally allowed.  Those uses have been determined to be potentially 

detrimental to allowed uses within the zone district.  Under certain circumstances they 

can be allowed with consideration to their particular location, the conditions that are 

provided for within the request and then the specific conditional use permit criteria that 

the request is reviewed against. 

There are also uses in the Zoning and Development Code which have 

performance standards which must be met in addition to the other code requirements.  

Adult entertainment is one of those uses that has performance standards.  The 

performance standard that an adult entertainment establishment must meet is that it has 

to be greater than a thousand feet from any church, school, park, playground, publicly 

owned property or residentially zoned land.  And in reviewing this request it does meet 

all of those spacing requirements. 

There are many uses in an I-1 zone district which are allowed uses by 

right - - medical, dental clinics, for example, churches, indoor animal clinics and 

boarding, and adult entertainment.  The I-1 zone district also has uses which are 

allowed with the issuance of a conditional use permit.  Some examples of those are 

business residences, museums and theaters, jails, offices, outdoor animal clinics and 

boarding, and bars and nightclubs. 



 

 

A bar nightclub is allowed with a conditional use permit in B-1, B-2, C-1, 

C-2, I-O and a Mixed Use zone district with a conditional use permit required for all of 

those zone districts.  One of the things that as staff we look at when a request for any 

kind of conditional use permit comes before us is potential conflicts with the neighboring 

properties.  In looking at a request for a bar nightclub, the potential for conflicts tends to 

be higher in a B-1, B-2 and C-1 zone districts, primarily because they are zone districts 

which allow residential uses by right.  They’re more likely to be located near existing 

residential uses or proposed residential uses and they’re located in zone districts that 

are more likely to have similar business hours and, therefore, the potential conflict for 

traffic and noise and those types of issues. 

The primary, in addition to compliance with the Growth Plan Amendment, 

site plan review standards, performance standards, we also look at compatibility of a 

potential request with the surrounding properties.  This particular property is surrounded 

on the north, west and east by industrial zoned properties.  Many of those properties in 

the area are vacant.  There are a few new industrial properties that are under 

construction but primarily at least all the ones along Colex Drive which are the 

immediate neighbors are currently vacant.  The property to the east which has been 

discussed in prior hearings has been historically used residentially; however, it is zoned 

industrial.  It was annexed into the city as industrial zoned property and has not been 

used as a residential use for several months and is currently for sale by the owner. 

The property to the south which is zoned C-2 is owned by Western Slope 

Ford.  The owner came forward at the August 12th hearing and expressed concerns with 

potential impacts to his property, specifically looked at whether this request site had 



 

 

mitigated potential impacts to that neighboring property owner as they were required to 

do by code.  They are separated from the car sales lot by G Road.  There is a 6 foot 

privacy fence that was installed along the south side of G…or the south side of this 

property adjacent to G Road with the approval of the subdivision that the property sits 

in.  There is also a 14 foot landscape strip adjacent to the right-of-way.  There’s 

approximately 90 feet between this requested site and the Western Slope property 

south of G Road. 

The applicant is also providing internal parking lot landscaping, security 

lighting on the property.  The sales lot has also got a 6 foot security fence along their 

property with 3 strands of barb wire along the top.  The other compatibility issues that 

we looked at was the offset hours of this proposed use compared to the surrounding 

businesses.  They have proposed defensive landscaping in order to mitigate any 

potential for trespassing onto neighboring properties through the adjoining property 

lines. 

I’ve also included in your staff report a spreadsheet that details all of the 

existing establishments within the city that are licensed for distributing alcohol for 

consumption on the property.  That spreadsheet shows a variety of types of those 

establishments.  They include restaurants, pool halls, hotels, health clubs, spas, and bar 

nightclubs.  They exist in a variety of zone districts and they exist with a variety of 

neighboring uses including residential, retail, office and neighboring industrial parks. 

That concludes my presentation.  Do you have any questions for me at 

this time? 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Senta, I have one…one question that I would 

ask you to…to repeat.  You covered it alright.  Would you repeat the…the uses by right 

and the uses…the conditional use possibilities? 

MS. COSTELLO:  The uses that I had listed just for examples 

were uses by right were medical and dental clinics, churches, indoor animal clinics and 

boarding and the adult entertainment and if you would like more examples I…I can pull 

those out of our zoning matrix.  Zone districts or uses that require a conditional use 

permit in the I-1 zone district - examples of those uses are business residences, 

museums, theaters, jails, offices, outdoor animal clinics and boarding and bars and 

nightclubs.  I just tried to give you a kind of a…a broad spectrum of what potential 

uses… 

COMMISSIONER So in your conclusions then you…you took into 

account these things and they can use the adult entertainment right now without a 

conditional use permit and so tonight our…our consideration is for the bar and 

nightclub? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Correct. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Is that correct? 

MS. COSTELLO:  Correct. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay.  Any other questions of staff? 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT:  I…I have a couple questions.  

One is you mentioned the applicant is offsetting the hours so they won’t impact the 

surrounding businesses.  What are those hours proposed to be? 



 

 

MS. COSTELLO:  If I remember correctly the hours of operation, 

and the applicant is here and can correct me if my memory doesn’t serve, are 5 to 2. 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT:  And then in your spreadsheet 

that you gave us I noticed, I went through it pretty meticulously, and I see there are 3 

establishments in I-O that are currently using an alcohol permit and there are none 

in…in I-1.  Did I miss something or…? 

MS. COSTELLO:  No, that is correct.  We have had actually no 

applications for anything in an I-1 zone district or a Mixed Use zone district as far back 

as…as the records go concerning the existing uses. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions?  Okay, thank you, 

Senta.  Does the applicant have anything that they would like to…to add to Senta’s 

summary of the application? 

MR. MOORE:  Good evening.  My name’s Drew Moore and 

I’m here on behalf of the applicant and I will be brief.  The first thing I’d like to do is go 

back to the question you just asked.  The applicant actually would like to have the hours 

of operation from 11 a.m. to 2 a.m. to account for lunches and the applicant still feels 

that that will accommodate the business already existing.  As far as the brief additional 

points the applicant would like to make in consideration has already…has been touched 

on by Senta.  There’s no one living in the properties at all at this point and that’s been 

the case apparently for several months.  In any event, the properties were zoned 

industrial and so it would be different if it was a home or residential but it’s not and that 

point’s already been very well made by Miss Costello. 



 

 

The next thing is just to reiterate what’s already been said for the third 

time now - - the issue isn’t adult entertainment.  The issue is whether or not he can get 

a conditional use permit to seek an alcohol license.  That’s it.  On the adult 

entertainment aspect of it has nothing to do and we just want to reiterate that we’re not 

here today to defend or discuss or otherwise the adult entertainment aspect of it.  We 

feel it’s completely irrelevant and, therefore, we don’t discuss it much.  The only thing 

the applicant would offer is that in a poll that was done by the Free Press approximately 

a year ago, more of the people posting a response were in favor of this seeing no 

reason why it should not be allowed to go into business.   This is America and nobody’s 

asking Mr.….or Mr. Eardley’s not asking that he receive a bailout.  He just wants a 

chance to go into business and see who will actually patronize him. 

The final thing the applicant would like just to be heard on and made 

aware…make you aware of is this has been very long and arduous for him the process 

started really quite some time ago.  I believe the first hearing was in August of last year 

and this is multiple times before this Commission and the applicant just wants you to 

know it’s been very time consuming, it’s been stressful to him and it’s been financially a 

hardship to him.  So he just asked that you consider all of that and just make the 

decision as suggested and that you find that he has met the code for purposes of 

issuing the conditional use permit.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Is that it? 

MR. MOORE: That was everything. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay.  Any questions of the applicant? 



 

 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT: So…so you’re going to propose that we 

change…he’s going to change the hours from 5 to 11 a.m.? 

MR. MOORE: Whatever it is in the application is what we’re here for.  

I spoke with Mr. Eardley who said he would like it to consider lunch.  Instead of doing 

that now we would just suggest that we go with the hours as originally proposed which 

is 5 to 2 and we can seek additional authority later to get the lunch. 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT:  Okay. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Any further questions?  Okay, thank you, sir. 

MR. MOORE: Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  We will now open it to the public to give 

their…their input on this item.  We’ll first ask for those who would like to speak in favor 

of it.  I would ask that you keep your comments to 3 minutes if possible.  I’ll be looking 

at the watch and asking you to do that.  I would just…just say that you can say a lot 

in…in three minutes or less.  I would point out that the Gettysburg Address was done in 

less than 3 minutes and President Lincoln said a lot in that address. 

So…so I would ask that you keep your comments within that time limit.  

First I’ll ask those who would speak…want to speak in favor of this application.  Anyone 

who would like to speak in favor of the application?  Yes, sir?  Give us your name and 

address. 

  MR. MOSBY:  Don Mosby, 3348½ B and a quarter Road in 

Clifton.  It’s more of a question – can I ask a question? 

  CHAIRMAN COLE:  You can ask and we’ll try to answer it later. 

  MR. MOSBY:  Does this meet all the criteria? 



 

 

  CHAIRMAN COLE:  That’s for us to determine. 

MR. MOSBY:  But for the planning department, does it meet 

all the criteria? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  It has been recommended for approval. 

MR. MOSBY:  Okay.  I’m here in favor of the conditional use 

permit. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay. 

MR. MOSBY:  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else who’d like to speak in favor? 

MR. HALTINER: My name’s Justin Haltiner.  I live at 303 Beldon Court 

in Fruita, Colorado.  I am in favor of the approved measure. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay.  If you haven’t signed up I would ask that 

you sign the…the roster.  Is it back at the back, Senta? 

MS. COSTELLO:  There is one available up here.  I believe there 

is one in the back. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  There’s one in back and up here as well so if 

you’d sign that if you’re going to testify we’d appreciate it.  Yes, sir? 

MR. BROWN: My name is Rick Brown.     Court.  I’m in 

favor of Mr. Eardley’s project and would it be easier if everybody that was just in favor to 

stand up? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  That would be alright.  We can do that.  Can 

we get a count of those for the record?  I get 20.  Okay, yes, sir, you want to speak? 



 

 

MR. PE’A:  My name is Phillip Pe’a, 795 Joslyn Court.  I’d just like 

to ask the planning committee just to not legislate morality, just to stick to the criteria 

that’s in front of you and I think you should approve.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else who would like to speak in favor?  

Okay, we will now move to those who would like to speak in opposition to this 

application.  Who would like to be first here?  Yes, sir? 

MR. LONG:  Hello.  My name is Milton Long.  My address is 237 

White Avenue, Apartment B.  Some years ago I was at Disneyland.  Lots of adults go to 

Disneyland besides kids and…and you see a lot of people on nice summer days in 

southern California.  There’s something wholesome about it.  In Disneyland you do not 

have alcohol.  Alcoholic beverages cannot be sold in Disneyland.  So there is relaxation 

you don’t have to worry about someone getting fresh or looking at you in a bad sort of 

way.  I like to see beautiful girls.  I see a lot of them but it’s better to keep alcohol 

separate from…from beauty. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else who’d like to 

speak?  Yes, sir? 

MR. STRASSER:  Good evening.  My name is Michael Strasser.  

I’m an employee at AmeriGas Propane which is directly across the I-70 Business Loop 

and as an employee of AmeriGas we…we operate 24/7.  We have propane trucks 

coming in, coming out 24 hours a day.  There are bobtails that go out to residential 

homes and a lot of times at 2 o’clock at night…11 o’clock at night.  That intersection 

there’s…the intersection we use primarily to exit out of our...our facility.  If they’re going 

to allow…if you’re going to allow alcohol to be served there we already see many, 



 

 

numerous accidents there…daily accidents.  If you…if you add alcohol into the mix of 

coming…of people coming out of Colex Road onto G Road onto the I-70 Business Loop 

there’s going to multiple accidents there and multiple fatalities there and I’d hate to see 

one of our…my fellow Grand Junction residents injured in an accident more or less 

injured in an accident concerning our propane truck.  When our trucks leave the yard 

they’re usually full of propane so the chances of a severe accident involving a propane 

truck are very, very dangerous.  Okay, that’s pretty much all I have to say.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MR. PITTS:  Mr. Chairman, council…or commission, pardon me.  

On January 13 there was almost 40 minutes of testimony on GPA 2008-305 which you 

approved additional industrial use and commercial use at I and...at 860 21 Road which 

is quite a ways out in the country.  We have presently a C-1 zoning…a commercial 

zoning on the proposed project and it’s been quite obvious through the real estate 

industry and the community that industrial and commercial use is in short supply.  I 

suggest or I submit that it’s been regrettable that the City Council can’t distinguish 

between a neighborhood and compatibility.  I drive through this area will immediately let 

you know that this is not an area for a nightclub or a bar operation.  It’s a commercial 

use.  That’s what was designated by the…by the council and by the city a good number 

of years ago and with that in mind to use…dispense alcohol in this commercial and 

industrial…this type of product in this area is inappropriate.  We have a lack of this type 

of property in the county or in the city and I request that you deny this application. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 



 

 

MR. McFARLANE:  My name is Mike McFarlane and I live at 2808 

Bookcliff Avenue and I want to talk about the conditional use permit.  In chapter 2.13 

where it says that all elements of a plan should co-exist in a harmonious manner – 

harmony meaning a counterpart or a support or compliment to a melody – and in this 

case the industry being the melody and harmony meaning a support or compliment.  

Now the question is does a bar compliment or support industry?  I don’t think it does.  

Do you?  It says it needs to be harmonious with existing and anticipated development.  

Now existing…there is a residence there.  I know it’s unoccupied at the present time but 

it has the right to remain a residence and so that brings it into play.  Now at the last 

meeting it was brought up that it’s a non-conforming use but in here it does not mention 

that it only has to be harmonious with conforming uses and so that does bring that 

residence into play and makes it a…a real consideration, wouldn’t you think? 

The next thing is anticipated development.  The last meeting we said that 

we could only consider what’s there now but the code clearly says what’s anticipated to 

be there.  I don’t know about you but I don’t think that a bar promotes industry coming 

into this neighborhood.  I believe that it would hinder.  When the planning of this area 

and the zoning of industry was derived it was determined that this is something that 

should be done in our city so that our city can thrive.  We need industry in the city to 

survive and if a bar keeps other industry from coming in that hinders the ability for this 

community to thrive.  Don’t you think?  And so we can legitimately look at the 

anticipated affect of this bar on the future development of this industrial site and I think 

with that thought in mind…I don’t know about you but I don’t think that this is right for 

this area.  Thank you. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MS. STRASSER:    Good evening.  My name is Amber Strasser 

and I live at 485 31 and a quarter Road.  I would like all you guys to imagine with me a 

family of 4 with 2 children between the ages of 5 and 7.  This family took ownership of 

the house next to the land where the bar would be built and within 3 months this 

business opened.  What kind of influence could this be on the children or even on the 

businesses that surround it?  This business could ruin how businesses run 

harmoniously with others and it could destroy the business both financially and the 

location that it surrounds.  As it is our economy is not doing so hot and we don’t need 

that surrounded…the bar to close down because of the bar and the fact that drunk 

people could be walking around destroying other businesses and even the house 

located next door.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else.  Yes, sir…or yes, 

ma’am, I’m sorry. 

MS. STRASSER:  Hi.  My name is Sarah Strasser and I live at 

485 31¼ Road.  Most of you guys know Cactus Canyon out in Clifton.  I work right next 

door to Cactus at Qdoba and I’m the manager over there and on multiple occasions we 

have so many issues with drunk people coming out.  They’ve attacked some of our 

employees, threw ‘em in their car.  I’ve had people come up to me and try to get me to 

do stuff and try to get me in my car and take me away and this has happened on 

multiple occasions.  We’ve had people thrown rocks in through our window because 

they were drunk and it’s just…it’s a scary thing and I don’t know about you guys but I 



 

 

wouldn’t be able to walk across the street without having to worry about some drunk guy 

coming after me.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else? 

MS. HUDON-DEAL:  My name’s Milana Hudon-Deal.  I live at 1313 

North 18th Street.  The gentleman that stood up at the very beginning and cited the Free 

Press saying that people would like to have this type of business in our community, I 

would ask that maybe we should take a vote of the real people who vote in this state or 

in this community to see if they really want this in their community.  And another thing 

we had everybody opposed, could we have everybody…or for stand up, can we have 

people stand up for the opposing side? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  I haven’t asked for that yet.  I want you to 

complete your testimony. 

MS. HUDON-DEAL:  I’m done. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, thank you. 

MS. HUDON-DEAL:  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else who’d like to speak?  Yes, 

ma’am? 

MS. McFARLANE:  I was…my name is Renee McFarlane, 2808 

Bookcliff Avenue.  I was looking through this on conditional use permits, 5.B., it says 

protection of use and enjoyment.  All elements of the proposed plan shall be designed 

and arranged to have a minimal negative impact of the use and enjoyment of the 

adjoining property.  I just can’t see this as not having a negative impact on the adjoining 

property and also the…it says the enjoyment of the adjoining property.  I don’t know too 



 

 

many businesses that would enjoy…and it’s specifically in the code or the conditional 

use permit says enjoyment.  I just don’t see people enjoying having their cars busted 

into, windows busted out, people throwing up on their property.  And then also it says in 

C, compatible design and integration.  It talks about the different things that are built but 

it also talks about noise and I do think if they…I mean right now if they’re saying 5 

o’clock to 2 but if they change that to 11 o’clock people will be…and there aren’t a lot of 

businesses that people work late so the noise factor is something to consider – people 

out there in the parking lot because people don’t just stay in bars once they have a few 

drinks they’re out making noise in the parking lot.  So I think we should take that into 

consideration.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  Someone else?  Yes, sir. 

MR. SMITH:  My name’s Dave Smith.  I live at 541 29½ Road and I 

would just like to remind the Commission that as of right now there is no bar nightclub in 

an I-1 zoned area and there are other zonings where this is not only appropriate but 

approved and if you approve this tonight you will be setting precedent for this to happen 

in the future and for other bar nightclubs to begin to infiltrate the industrial zoned areas 

of Grand Junction and if we look ahead I don’t believe that that is a precedent that it 

would behoove us to set tonight or ever in that…in that…or forever. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, thank you, sir. 

MR. SMITH:  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else? 

MR. OSWALD:  My name is Otis Oswald.  I live at 516 33½ 

Road.  You know I’m also an ex-veteran of the United States Army so I…I understand 



 

 

the freedom of speech because I fought for that right.  I don’t understand how they can 

say that adult entertainment is not a morality issue or this before the Commission is not 

a morality issue.  It clearly is and I just want to thank you all for holding us to a higher 

standard.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else?  Okay, seeing none, in the 

interest of fairness, I will ask those who are opposed to this to stand.  If we can get a 

count, please.  I get 26.  Okay, thank you.  Is there anyone else who would like to 

testify? 

MR. CHAVANCEK:  Thank you, Commissioners.  My name is Larry 

Chavancek.  I live at 2929 Whitney Lane, Grand Junction.  I believe and agree with the 

gentleman who spoke earlier about the fact that this is an inappropriate use of this 

zoned site.  Industrial land is not being easily added to this valley and to allow 

precedent to change where an I-1 can become an industry of selling alcohol and 

whatever entertainment it will be detrimental in the long run.  You are being asked to 

make decisions that are not only in relation to this item.  Earlier someone said it is not 

your job to uphold morality.  No – but it is your job to uphold the better good of this 

community and the use of its land for its development is one of the very primary aspects 

of planning and I think that’s why this commission is called planning.  I appreciate your 

listening and understanding the importance of the decisions.  I…I feel almost sorry for 

you that it has been remanded back to you so many times.  Somebody’s not listening, 

sorry. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Anyone else who’d like to testify?  Seeing 

none, let me just express my appreciation for those of you who have testified this 



 

 

morning or this evening and have kept on the subject of the bar nightclub.  I appreciate 

that and haven’t let other items enter into your discussion.  I appreciate your keeping on 

target for that.  With that, we’ll ask the applicant if they would…if they have anything 

additional that they’d like to say. 

MR. MOORE:  Thank you again.  Just very briefly to clarify the 

hours we asked earlier.  It is 5 to 2.  If the applicant wants to change that, that will be in 

the future.  Right now the pending application is from 5 to 2.  There’s no change to that.  

Also the applicant would just like to note that there are so many bars in this area.  This 

one is certainly not intrusive.  Contrary to some of the testimony it would appear to be in 

a relatively well placed spot much more out of the way than others and the applicant 

would just ask that you consider once again the code and whether or not he’s met the 

code absent any consideration of the adult entertainment aspect and also the applicant 

would like to thank you for your time. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Thank you.  With that we will close the public 

hearing and bring it back to the Commission for discussion and we’ll open that up now. 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM:  Mr. Chairman. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM:  I’d like to say first that it is my 

judgment that having an establishment such as is being contemplated in this hearing 

will not be beautifying to the City of Grand Junction.  But it is also my judgment that we 

must obey the law.  I participated in the hearing in August of 2008 and listened carefully 

to the presentations of the city staff, the applicant and the public.  I was not present at 

the second hearing in November 2008 but I have read the verbatim minutes of that 



 

 

hearing as well as the earlier one.  And what has been presented tonight added only 

marginally if at all to what was heard in the two hearings and in voluminous 

correspondence.  The legal staff of the city has both the education and the resources to 

examine this statutory law and case law on the subject or subjects before us tonight.  

Thus I urge that their judgment be relied upon rather than the isolated and anecdotal 

citations of court decisions offered by several correspondents.  We have been advised 

that governmental entities must allow adult entertainment within their jurisdictions.  It is 

allowed by the Zoning and Development Code as a use by right in I-1 zones.  Public 

consumption of alcoholic…excuse me, public consumption of alcoholic beverages in 

properly permitted establishments is also allowed in I-1 as well as other zones.  

Speculation about the dire consequences of adult entertainment and alcoholic beverage 

consumption is not proper grounds for Planning Commission actions and certainly no 

credible evidence has been presented to conclude that public consumption of alcoholic 

beverage, beverages will result in more undesirable drunken behavior in industrial 

zones than in business or commercial zones.  I agree with the conclusions of the staff 

report.  Emphasize that.  That the applicant has met or exceeded the conditions for the 

award of a conditional use permit and urge my fellow commissioners to approve the 

permit.  I would like to add observations and arguments pertinent to the subject of this 

hearing. 

First, the attempt to define the entire city as a neighborhood was a ploy to 

apply growth plan language to this issue.  Even if the entire city were a neighborhood 

which it obviously is not, that would not matter because the Zoning and Development 

Code – not the growth plan – is our guiding document and has the force of law.  To 



 

 

contend that alcoholic beverage consumption should not be…should not be allowed in 

this I-1 zone is disingenuous.  It is allowed with conditional use permits in I-1 and other 

zones.  No convincing argument has been presented that what will happen inside the 

proposed establishment will make the normally permitted alcohol consumption not 

appropriate in this specific instance. 

In fact on January 27th, 2009 this commission approved without comment 

a conditional use permit for alcoholic beverage consumption in a bar and grill at 1224 

North 25th Street.  There are residences nearby, some in a residentially zoned location 

and others non-conforming in a C-1 zone.  But with this recent action I can only 

conclude that opposition to the issue before us must be based on moral judgments 

about the nature of the proposed establishment rather than on alcoholic beverage 

consumption.  I will conclude with the observation that sex and alcohol are explosive 

issues that lead us as a society to tie ourselves in knots over their regulation.  We insist 

on telling all people on how they must think and what they must do or not do in regard to 

these things.  How much simpler it would be to adopt the position that if you don’t like it, 

don’t go there.  However, we get involved in possible self-contradictory laws, rules and 

regulations.  I submit that neither the Planning Commission nor the City Council should 

deny a conditional use permit for legally permitted activities.  Let us follow the law, vote 

aye and put this issue behind us. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   Okay, anyone else? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW: I would concur with Mr. Putnam’s 

comments. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay. 



 

 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  That’s a tough act to follow.  In the last 

hearing I…I think this is only my second.  This has been before us now this is the third 

time and my second time hearing this and I will admit that I thought that City Council 

should have made a decision but after further discussion with…with legal, especially 

with Jamie – she opened my eyes to what the reasons why they didn’t make a decision.  

I’m glad they didn’t make the decision.  This process has been very eye-opening for me.  

I’m sure the applicant, Mr. Eardley, it is costing you time and money and for that I 

apologize.  But I have said in the last meeting that a bar in an industrial zone is not 

compatible for safety reasons.  I also said in the last meeting that opening a bar first in 

an undeveloped industrial area could deter other businesses from developing.  I will 

refer to the type of establishment just for reasons of…of basing my opinion.  In chapter 

4.3.B. our City Council has stated and these are words that I copied directly from…from 

our code - - our City Council has stated that a concentration of adult entertainment 

establishments in cities tends to result in both the blighting and deterioration of the 

areas of such concentration.  Now I don’t believe that’s the goal of the applicant but this 

is what’s written in our code.  Accordingly, it is necessarily…necessary that these 

establishments be regulated in a manner as to prevent the erosion of the character of 

affected neighborhoods.  No adult entertainment establishment as defined here shall be 

permitted within the City of Grand Junction except as provided in this code.  The code 

states that an adult entertainment facility cannot operate in an industrial zone.  We 

understand that.  That’s not the argument.  If they can open, that is not the argument.  

The question here tonight is can they serve alcohol and that is it.  Plain and simple.  If 

they’re denied, they can still open up the establishment and…and…and run their 



 

 

business.  I want to make that very clear that I…I understand that.  It also states that to 

serve alcohol they need a conditional use permit.  So according to conditional use 

permits I know we’ve heard this but the purpose of a conditional use review is to provide 

an opportunity to utilize property for an activity which under usual circumstances could 

be detrimental to other permitted uses and which normally is not permitted within the 

same district.  It’s an I-1 zone a bar.  The conditional use may be permitted under 

circumstances particular to the proposed location and subject to conditions that provide 

protection to adjacent land uses.  A conditional use is not a use by right and one that is 

otherwise prohibited without approval of a conditional use permit.  The applicability of a 

conditional use permit shall be required prior to the establishment of any conditional use 

identified in chapters 3 and 4 or elsewhere in this code.  And to approve the criteria the 

application shall demonstrate that the proposed development will comply with the 

following:  site plan standards – not an issue.  There’s not an issue with the site plan.  

District standards, underlying zoning standards established in chapters 3, except 

density – things like that – not an issue.  The uses specific standards established in 

chapters 3 and 4, unless you read chapters 3 and 4 – but not an issue.  Availability of 

complimentary uses, other uses complimentary to and supportive of the proposed 

project shall be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, 

businesses and commercial facilities and transportation facilities.  Compatibility with 

adjoining properties, compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through 

measures such as protection of privacy – design is there.  Protection of use and 

enjoyment.  All elements of the proposed plan shall be designed and arranged to have a 

minimal negative impact on the use and enjoyment of adjoining property.  The plan shall 



 

 

be…and let me read this again, shall be designed and arranged to have a minimal 

negative impact on the use and enjoyment of adjoining property.  In  my humble opinion 

I don’t know of a design that could prevent any secondary effects from any bar 

whatsoever.  Based on these factors I will vote to deny this C-U-P application based on 

chapters 4.3.B., chapter 2.13.C.4 which is availability of complimentary uses which 

states other uses complimentary to and supportive of the proposed project  shall be 

available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, businesses and 

commercial facilities and transportation facilities, and 2.3.C.5 – compatibility with 

adjoining properties most notably section B. – protection of use and enjoyment which 

states all elements of the proposed plan shall be designed and arranged to have a 

minimal negative impact on the use and enjoyment of the adjoining properties. 

I do not think that a bar in an industrial neighborhood meets all of these 

qualifications based on those three things right there.  That’s my opinion.  I do believe 

that the applicant wants to open up a business, to make a living and he wants it to be a 

respectable business.  I do believe that it is the Planning Commission’s duty to look at 

the business and to help protect that applicant from…from failing.  I think based on that, 

it’s important for us to look at what do we think will happen and could happen based off 

other bars in the area - - not that area but in the city - - most notably, what is it Cactus 

Canyon or whatever…those secondary…those type of secondary effects?  I think it’s 

more important for us to protect the applicant in that respect versus going ahead and 

allowing a bar in that neighborhood to open up because I think if a bar opens up in that 

neighborhood based off my criteria of what I’ve read it would be detrimental to…to our 

city. 



 

 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI:  Mr. Chairman, I would like to 

make a few points why we should grant this C-U-P request.  One – at this time the city 

code allows this nightclub restaurant serving alcohol in an industrial zone.  Two, as the 

staff has said I agree that the applicant has met all the code criteria.  As commissioners 

we must follow the code. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Speak into the mic a little better, would you? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI:    As a commissioner we must 

follow the code rules the same as the city and staff.  If this issue ends up in the court 

there is an 80 to 90 percent or maybe even higher that the judge would grant the C-U-P 

anyway.  Therefore, we will be wasting taxpayer’s money fighting and maybe even 

having to pay to buy their property.  I cannot agree to do this.  Fourth, the alternative of 

opening the nightclub without alcohol would be the worst possible result.  We all know 

they can open without our permission if they do not serve alcohol.  If they do and any 

person no matter how old can get in.  Plus I believe people will drink legally outside and 

inside and this will create more trouble, law enforcement’s time will be wasted.  Dealing 

with the…all when we need the police to do real police work.  With a liquor license they 

have to check the door carefully and they have to make the parking lot safe or their 

liquor license won’t be renewed or it will be revoked.  Believe me I have a lot of 

experience on that.  Five, our job is to follow the code.  It is up to the City Council to 

change it.  Until they do we should approve this C-U-P.  Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Someone else? 



 

 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT:  Mr. Chairman, you know, quite 

frankly, I do believe there is a strong probability that this will end up in court and I do 

believe that more likely than not a judge will overturn a negative response from this 

commission.  That being said, quite frankly I have stated all along that I do not believe 

that a bar should be in an industrial zoned property.  I have asked for the staff to make a 

change to that.  I understand that it’s under review and admit it may take several 

months because of just timing. 

The other thing that…that frankly probably has turned my vote against it 

tonight, even though I did vote against it before was that the applicant stated that more 

likely than not that down the road they’re going to be looking to change their hours of 

operations to an 11 o’clock start.  Even though at this time they are looking at 5 o’clock.  

I think the…the idea that they will not go through and request an 11 o’clock opening 

time, I…I don’t see that happening.  I…I presume that they…they more than likely will 

ask for an 11 o’clock.  I do have a problem with alcohol being served in industrial 

zoning.  I have a problem with people having the availability to walk to this site from 

their jobs that are across the street and then more likely than not having more than just 

a few drinks and then going back to their site and causing a problem.  Yes, I understand 

that people can drive to Westgate Inn or they can drive to the mall and they can get 

what they want to drink.  The likelihood of them being in an infraction or being caught by 

our local law enforcement officers is greater once they’re on the road.  If you’re walking 

across the street, you know what, you’re probably not going to get caught and heaven 

forbid something should happen in an industrial zone where there can be explosives, 

there can be all kinds of things taking place and I understand that we’re not supposed to 



 

 

regulate morality and trust me I do have an issue with property owners being told here’s 

the set of rules, this is what you need to play by and then along comes someone else to 

change the rules.  I have a problem with that.  I really do.  My biggest concern though at 

this point in time is…is the realism that they’re going to ask to change their hours to 11 

a.m.  Therefore, I am going to vote no on this measure. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   Pat, you made your comments agreeing 

with Mr. Putnam, is that right? 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW:  Yes. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay.  Well, I can judge by the simple survey 

that we took here a little bit ago of those for and those against it that there are more 

against than for here.  There are a lot of people here in this town that I am sure are 

absolutely opposed to this type of establishment.  There are people here that are 

opposed to having a bar nightclub in an industrial zone area.  However, previous 

councils have chosen to say that this is a use by condition that can go in an industrial 

zone area.  So that is not a determination for this board to make here this evening.  The 

code has to be changed in order for us to use that as a criteria for denying this and so 

with that in mind I have to say that it has met that portion of the code.  I believe that it 

has met the other portions of the code.  I…I happen to agree that staff has done a good 

job in looking at the code and exploring the code and while personally I am opposed to 

this I pledged to uphold the law as I sit up here and the other thing is that I as a 

commissioner part of my responsibility is to do my best to keep the city from court 

action. I have a feeling that regardless of which way this goes there may be court 

action.  Nevertheless, I am going to have to vote in favor of this tonight and I am only 



 

 

voting in favor of the bar nightclub.  I…I do not approve of the entertainment that is 

planned to have there.  I…I find it repulsive.  Nevertheless, I feel like I have to abide by 

the law that I pledged to uphold and so I’ll be voting in favor of this this evening. 

APPLAUSE.  No, never mind.  We will not have applause.  So with that we 

are ready for a motion. 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  Mr. Chairman, on bar nightclub 

conditional use permit, C-U-P 2008-158, I move that the Planning Commission approve 

of the conditional use permit with the facts and conclusions listed in the staff report. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Okay, I will ask for a roll call vote. 

MS. SINGER:  Commissioner Abbott… 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM:  Second. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   Okay, yes we have a second here. 

MS. SINGER:  Commissioner Abbott? 

COMMISSIONER ABBOTT: No. 

MS. SINGER:  Commissioner Eslami? 

COMMISSIONER ESLAMI: Yes. 

MS. SINGER: Chairman Cole? 

CHAIRMAN COLE:  Yes. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Putnam? 

COMMISSIONER PUTNAM: Aye. 

MS. SINGER: Commissioner Wall? 

COMMISSIONER WALL:  No. 

MS. SINGER:  Commissioner Carlow? 



 

 

COMMISSIONER CARLOW:  Yes. 

CHAIRMAN COLE:   The motion carries.  With that we will 

take a…a recess and resume at 5 minutes after. 

 
7. Twelfth & Patterson Center - Conditional Use Permit 

Request a recommendation of approval to City Council to vacate an Irrigation and 
Drainage Easement.  Request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a retail 
building that is in excess of 15,000 sq. ft. in the B-1 (Neighborhood Business) zone 
district and request approval of a Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through retail 
use on 8.4 acres. 
FILE #: CUP-2008-323 
PETITIONER: Dillon Real Estate 
LOCATION: SE Corner of 12th Street & Patterson Road 
STAFF: Scott Peterson 
 

Chairman Cole announced that Commissioner Ebe Eslami had a possible conflict and 
excused him from hearing this matter. 
 
STAFF’S PRESENTATION 
Scott Peterson, Senior Planner, Public Works and Planning Department, made a 
PowerPoint presentation, regarding the request for a proposed commercial neighborhood 
development for a conditional use permit, for a retail building and also for a drive-through 
retail use in the B-1 zone district.  Applicant was also requesting the vacation of an 
irrigation and drainage easement which was currently dedicated on the property.  Mr. 
Peterson said that the proposed site was located adjacent to North 12th Street at the 
intersection of Patterson Road and Wellington Avenue.  He went on to state that applicant 
wished to construct a 49,548 square foot City Market grocery store with a drive-through 
pharmacy along with a fuel center and 3 retail buildings ranging in size from 6,000 square 
feet to 9,000 square feet that could accommodate up to 17 individual tenants.  A 
conditional use permit was required for the drive-through pharmacy in a B-1 zone district 
and was also needed for a retail building in excess of 15,000 square feet.  Since 
conditional use permits ran with the land, the CUP was requested for Lot 1.  Mr. Peterson 
said that the future land use designation indicated this area to be commercial and current 
zoning for the property was B-1, Neighborhood Business.  He further advised that last 
week the southern 8 parcels were changed by City Council to B-1.  As project manager, 
he found that the request for a CUP was in compliance with the growth plan and the 
Zoning and Development Code with the exception of applicant’s request to have an 
outdoor display area in front of the City Market building entrance.  He added that 
applicant had requested a waiver from Planning Commission as part of the request for a 
conditional use review.  As the B-1 zone district did not allow general retail sales, outdoor 
operations, display or storage, the Planning Commission could consider this request 
since the outdoor display would be considered ancillary to the permitted use.  He stated 
that he was supportive of applicant’s request to provide outdoor display areas adjacent to 



 

 

the proposed grocery store.  Performance standards for the B-1 zone district required that 
no use in this district would open or accept deliveries earlier than 5 a.m. nor close later 
than 11 p.m.  Applicant had stated that they were in agreement with those hours of 
operation.  Further, access to the property would be from Patterson Road, which would 
be a three-quarter movement; North 12th Street would be a right-in, right-out, and 
Wellington Avenue would be a full movement intersection.  He went on to say that 
complete reconstruction of the North 12th Street and Patterson Road intersection would 
be required as well as acquisition of real estate for the additional right-of-way for the 
intersection upgrade.  Upgrades at North 12th Street and Patterson Road would include 
double left turn lanes at all 4 legs, the cost of which was being negotiated between the 
City and the applicant.  Applicant would pay for half street improvements made to 
Wellington Avenue which would include a curb gutter sidewalk on the north side of 
Wellington adjacent to applicant’s property.  Mr. Peterson added that minimum access 
requirements would be determined by city staff as a condition of approval.  Next he 
discussed the adjacent properties to the east, south and north which were zoned 
residential with increased screening and buffering requirements from the existing B-1 
zone district by the minimum addition of an 8 foot wide landscaping strip and a 6 foot tall 
fence.  The planning director may approve increased landscaping rather than requiring 
the fence as the north and south residential zones were separated by a right-of-way, 
Patterson Road and Wellington Avenue.  In addition, applicant had proposed increased 
landscaping adjacent to these rights-of-way, which had been approved by the City as part 
of this review process.  Mr. Peterson next discussed the buffering requirement adjacent to 
the east property line wherein applicant had proposed an 11 foot wide landscaping strip 
and an 8 foot tall masonry wall along the common property line in lieu of the fence.  Mr. 
Peterson said that he was in favor of this request as the wall would provide additional 
screening and buffering between the proposed development and the adjacent multi-family 
residential development of Patterson Gardens.  He advised that the applicant had 
received approval from the Patterson Gardens HOA to construct the wall along the 
common property line.  A proposed sign package had also been submitted as part of the 
conditional use review and which he advised that all proposed signage were within the 
square footage and height requirements of the Zoning and Development Code.  He also 
said that the proposed development would not adversely impact the adjacent residential 
neighborhood because this property was adjacent to a high traffic intersection, was 
presently zoned B-1, was in close proximity to existing commercial, educational, hospital 
and clinic facilities and was within walking distance of existing residential development.  
Although this project did not technically come into the big box development standards, the 
applicant met or exceeded many big box architectural standards.  Also as part of this 
application, applicant would like to vacate an existing irrigation and drainage easement in 
anticipation of the proposed development.  The existing easement did not contain any 
public infrastructure utilities and was dedicated in 1993.  Mr. Peterson found that the 
requested conditional use permit and easement vacation were consistent with the Growth 
Plan and applicable sections of the Zoning and Development Code.  He also 
recommended that the Planning Commission approve the following:  the submitted sign 
package as presented; applicant’s request to have outdoor display areas; and the 5 foot 
side yard setback waiver for construction of the 8 foot tall masonry wall.  Finally, Mr. 
Peterson said that approval of this project was conditioned upon the approval and 



 

 

recordation of a Simple Subdivision Plat and finalization and approval of all outstanding 
items associated with the site plan review, including the necessary infrastructure, costs 
associated therewith, who would pay for those costs and the acquisition of all required 
right-of-way at the intersection of North 12th Street and Patterson Road. 
 
QUESTIONS 
Commissioner Wall asked what the purpose of the truck screen was.  Mr. Peterson said 
that there would be a masonry wall to cover the truck up so you would not be able to see 
it from ground level. 
 
Commissioner Abbott next asked if the irrigation drainage easement was currently used.  
Mr. Peterson said that it was not used and was platted in 1993 as part of two lots and was 
to provide an easement to get drainage and irrigation water to those two lots but was no 
longer necessary. 
 
STAFF’S PRESENTATION 
Rick Dorris, Development Engineer, addressed traffic and more particularly the 
reconstruction of the intersection which would have dual lefts on all 4 legs, as well as the 
number of access points in and around the area and the impacts to surrounding 
driveways.  He said that the street network as they have designed would handle the traffic 
proposed by the development and existing traffic for quite some time in the future. 
 
QUESTIONS 
Chairman Cole asked who would pay for this.  Mr. Dorris said that was currently being 
negotiated because part of it would rest on City Market with the lion’s share being a 
taxpayer expense. 
 
Chairman Cole asked if applicant was required to deposit quite a bit of money into the 
transportation capacity payment fund.  Rick said that the amount was still being 
negotiated but it was a pretty low number compared to the cost of the reconstruction of 
the intersection. 
 
Chairman Cole asked if the reconstruction would take place regardless of whether or not 
this project went ahead or not.  Mr. Dorris said that parts of it would be necessary as soon 
as maybe 3 to 5 years from now.  He said that certain aspects of this intersection 
construction would be required in the future as soon as 3 to 5 years.  He added that no 
doubt building of this development accelerated the reconstruction of the intersection. 
 
Commissioner Carlow asked if it would be dual lefts on all 4 legs.  Mr. Dorris said that 
was correct. 
 
Commissioner Carlow asked if there were any problems anticipated going north on 12th 
Street.  Rick Dorris stated that there were 2 through lanes through the intersection so at 
times there would be more stacking on the inside. 
 



 

 

Commissioner Carlow asked what kind of volume increase was projected.  Mr. Dorris 
discussed a graph prepared by the traffic engineer delineating traffic patterns and 
projected increases in traffic. 
 
Commissioner Wall asked if the intersection at 12th and Wellington would stay the same.  
Mr. Dorris stated that 12th Street at Wellington would stay the same but Wellington would 
be widened so that there was a right turn lane, a left turn lane and an inbound lane. 
 
Commissioner Carlow asked if the second access onto Patterson was a right turn only.  
Rick said that it would be right turn in, right turn out and as you would go westbound on 
Patterson, it would allow a left turn in and the 12th Street access was right in, right out 
only. 
 
Commissioner Putnam asked if enough property would be taken from between the bank 
and Patterson to make another lane which would in turn decrease the bank’s setbacks.  
Mr. Dorris said that he did not know what the setbacks were but if the widening of the 
road caused a non-conforming condition there it would not be a legal burden on the bank. 
 
PETITIONER’S PRESENTATION 
Grant Nelson of Goldberg Properties, 195 West 12th Avenue, Denver, presented the 
application for a conditional use permit and requested the approval of the conditional use 
permit.  He said that the site was at the southeast corner of 12th and Patterson, which site 
was recently rezoned to B-1.  He said that a pad on the southwest corner of the site was 
a to be determined use.  Additionally, the City Market was a 49,000 square foot, with 3 
retail buildings, consisting of two 6,000 square foot buildings along Patterson and a 9,000 
square foot building along 12th Street and the gas lot.  Mr. Nelson mentioned that 
particular attention had been paid to the plaza space in between the two retail buildings 
along Patterson to include a seating area, landscape planters and a fire pit among other 
things.  He next spoke specific to the conditional use permits of the sign package, drive 
through pharmacy, the CMU screen wall.  He said that this site was a great infill location 
which would allow them to take advantage of all existing houses, customers and 
passerby traffic.  He said that they had been debating traffic almost 3 years and continued 
to work with staff to come to conclusion on how this would work – both financially and 
design-wise as well as the TCP fees. 
 
QUESTIONS 
Commissioner Carlow asked if there would be a gas station there.  Mr. Nelson confirmed 
that a gas out lot was proposed at the northwest corner of the site, at 12th and Patterson. 
 
Commissioner Abbott asked for clarification regarding the canopy with the fire pit and 
more particularly would the canopy be covered.  Mr. Nelson said that it would be an open 
canopy. 
 
Commissioner Abbott asked what would power the fire pit.  Grant Nelson said that it 
would be a natural gas fire pit. 
 



 

 

Commissioner Abbott asked who would pay for it and for how long.  Mr. Nelson said that 
it would be paid for by the owners’ association for the duration of it being a benefit to the 
tenants that operate there. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
For: 
Milton Long, 237 White Avenue, Apt. B, said that this sounded good to him. 
 
Against: 
Mike Elliott, 162 South Mulberry, Fruita, didn’t think there should be a left turn lane on 
Patterson in the middle of the block and further that he thought some extra work should 
be done on the Wellington intersection to accommodate excess traffic.  Additionally, that 
there should be two inbound lanes on Wellington and thought that they should finish the 
jobs already started to address traffic issues prior to approval of this. 
 
Pat Verstraete, 1321 Wellington Avenue, said that she did not receive notice of the City 
Council meeting although she lived across the street from this proposed site.  She voiced 
her disapproval that neighbors did not have an opportunity for input regarding the change 
in zoning.  She provided the Commission with a chart that outlined the protection that 
zoning gave the neighborhood.  Chairman Cole reminded her that the zoning had already 
been granted.  Ms. Verstraete read a portion of the Zoning and Development Code which 
identified what was allowed in a B-1.  She was particularly concerned that this would be a 
change of three times what was allowed in a B-1 area and asked if there was another 
place in the city where a neighborhood zoned B-1 had buildings that were three times 
what was allowed by law.  She next discussed compatibility with adjacent properties and 
the drive-through uses, such as the pharmacy and gas stations, in a B-1 with all of the 
various requested variances when they should have come in and asked for a C-1.  She 
asked the Commission to not make this judgment prematurely.  She said that it was 
evidence that the people of Grand Junction did not want to pay for this. 
 
Bruce Verstraete of 1321 Wellington said that he and his wife had been opposed to this 
development since they moved here.  He said that that site needed a B-1 business all 
along and were mainly opposed to the store being open 24 hours a day and thought they 
could put up with hours of operation from 5 a.m. to 11 p.m.  He identified some changes 
that they would like and in particular the 8 foot wall on the east side between the 
development and Patterson Gardens extended down to the southeast corner, identified 
issues such as trash, noise and lights which would also need to be mitigated.  He stated 
that they would prefer no egress or access to the site on Wellington. 
 
PETITIONER’S REBUTTAL 
Mr. Grant Nelson addressed some of the concerns raised and said that applicant would 
be happy to provide an 8 foot fence all the way to the south boundary as well as some 
landscaping on the Verstraetes’ property if it would help mitigate the look of  a fence.  He 
said that they had reached an accord with Patterson Gardens and believed that with a 
taller wall some of the other issues could also be mitigated.  Mr. Nelson said that the 
proposed size of the building of 49,000 square feet was not a giant retail establishment. 



 

 

 
QUESTIONS 
Commissioner Wall asked for an example of a store that was approximately 49,000 
square feet.  Mr. Nelson said that Sportsman’s Warehouse would be a comparably sized 
building, being 55,000 square feet. 
 
STAFF’S REBUTTAL 
Scott Peterson advised that the City was not required to notify adjacent property owners 
regarding City Council public hearings and notification was strictly limited to Planning 
Commission public hearing items only.  Mr. Peterson further confirmed that anything over 
15,000 square feet in a B-1 zone district required a conditional use permit application and 
a grocery store was an allowed use in a B-1.  With regard to the drive through, even in a 
commercial zone, a conditional use permit review was required. 
 
Jamie Beard, Assistant City Attorney, said that in the description provided earlier by Mr. 
Peterson, he suggested that there was a change to be made in regards to the conditions 
that he had listed in the staff report for approval purposes and in particular to number 6 
which was the approval of the project being conditioned upon the approval and recording 
of the simple subdivision plat which would join the parcels into 4 lots and for finalization 
and approval of all outstanding items associated with the site plan review.  Ms. Beard said 
that added onto that was the minimum access requirements as determined by staff.  She 
identified the language that would be modified – eliminating the rest of the sentence after 
“site plan review” and add “including the minimum access requirements as determined by 
staff.” 
 
DISCUSSION 
Commissioner Wall said that he thought it was a good plan.  He said that he did prefer the  
B-1 zone because it had stricter requirements, namely time of operation.  He said that he 
viewed City Market/Kroger as a local name brand company.  With regard to the plan, he 
believed a lot of thought had been put into it, met all the requirements and would approve 
it. 
 
Commissioner Carlow said that he was in favor of the plan but did have a little concern 
about the change in traffic pattern.  He said that he was not concerned with the volume of 
traffic but rather that it would change the traffic pattern of the intersection considerably. 
 
Commissioner Putnam stated that he thought this was a pretty good plan and was for it. 
 
Commissioner Abbott added that it appeared that the applicant was willing to work with 
the residents and believed it was time that this plan moved forward. 
 
Chairman Cole agreed with everything said and thought it was time to remove what he 
considered to be an eyesore on that property and get something there that was much 
more aesthetic than what was there now and would support the motion as well. 
 



 

 

Attorney Jamie Beard clarified that the wall would be along the east side of the property 
all the way to the south end. 
 
MOTION:   (Commissioner Putnam):  “Mr. Chairman, on the vacation of a 2.5 
foot irrigation and drainage easement located at 1308 and 1310 Wellington 
Avenue, I move that we recommend approval to the City Council for the vacation 
request making the findings and facts and conclusions as listed in the city staff 
report.” 
 
Commissioner Wall seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion passed 
unanimously by a vote of 5 – 0. 
 
MOTION:   (Commissioner Wall):  “Mr. Chairman, on the request for a 
conditional use permit for the 12th and Patterson Center application, file number 
CUP-2008-323, to be located at the southeast corner of North 12th Street and 
Patterson Road, I move that Planning Commission make the findings of fact, 
conclusions and condition of approval as identified in the staff report and 
conditionally approve the conditional use permit with the addition of the 
extension of the wall on the east side.” 
 
Commissioner Putnam seconded the motion.  A vote was called and the motion passed 
unanimously by a vote of 5 – 0. 
 
General Discussion/Other Business 
None.  
 
Nonscheduled Citizens and/or Visitors 
None. 
 
Adjournment 
With no objection and no further business, the Planning Commission meeting was 
adjourned at 8:27 p.m. 
 
 



 

 

Attach 2 
Cell Hub Site 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE: April 14, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION: Ronnie Edwards 
 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Stelera Conditional Use Permit – CUP-2009-055 
 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 1600 Ute Avenue 

Applicants:  Stelera Wireless – Laurel Mitchell 
Existing Land Use: Leased area for existing cell tower 
Proposed Land Use: Add two antennas 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Mini-Storage Facility 
South Desert Vista Park/I-70 Business Loop 
East Auto Restoration and Repair 
West Office Complex 

Existing Zoning: C-2 (Heavy Commercial) 
Proposed Zoning: C-2 (Heavy Commercial) 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North C-2 (Heavy Commercial) 
South CSR (Community Services and Recreation) 
East C-2 (Heavy Commercial) 
West C-1 (Light Commercial) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial 

Zoning within density range? N/A Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A request for approval of a Conditional Use Permit for the 
addition of two antennas to be located on an existing monopole cell tower in a C-2 
(Heavy Commercial) zone district, in accordance with Table 3.5 of the zoning and 
Development Code. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of the Conditional Use Permit 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background 
 
The subject property was part of the Union Carbide Annexation that occurred in 1957 
and was zoned Commercial.  This property has always retained this Commercial 
designation.  The current monopole cell tower located at this site was reviewed and 
approved in September of 1999.  Approval was for only the tower and did not include 
any co-locates.  Two satellite co-locates have occurred since the construction of the 
facility without obtaining City approval through our review process. 
 
The Zoning and Development Code that was adopted 2000 changed Table 3.5 
Use/Zone Matrix to require a Conditional Use Permit for Telecommunications Facilities 
in all zone districts.  The applicant is proposing to bring the facility into conformance 
with current regulations and to add two more antennas. 
 
2. Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 
 

a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 
Development Code and with the SSID, TEDS and SWMM Manuals. 

 
Section 2.2.D.4 

1. Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable 
corridor or neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan 
and the parks plans 
 
The Site is currently zoned C-2 (Heavy Commercial) with the 
Growth Plan Future Land Use Map identifying this area as 
Commercial.  The proposal is in compliance with the plans and 
policies of the Growth Plan, corridor plans and major street plan. 
 

2. Conditions of any prior approvals 
 
The existing monopole cell tower was approved in 1999 under the 
regulations in effect at that time.  Fencing, signage and landscaping 
were required and installed with that project and are still in place as 
approved. 
 

3. Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, 
applicable use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning 
and Development Code and the design and improvement 
standards of Chapter Six of the Code 
 



 

 

This proposal meets the requirements of the applicable codes as 
the existing structure meets the bulk standards for the C-2 zone 
district, the improvement standards of Chapter Six and the 
regulations as outlined under Section 4.3.R for telecommunication 
facilities. 
 

4. Quality site design practices 
 
Applicant will be required to preserve the existing landscaping and 
fencing as previously approved or replace any damaged by the 
proposed installation. 
 

SSID Manual 
 

Petitioner has provided documents that meet City submittal 
standards and requirements.  Project Manager has determined that 
all required reports and structural analysis documents meet City 
standards.  
 

TEDS Manual 
 

The site has existing access points directly from Ute Avenue and 
no alterations are being proposed. 
 

SWMM 
 

This proposal will not be altering the site nor any drainage patterns. 
 

b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of 
the Zoning and Development Code 
 
The proposal is consistent with the C-2 (Heavy Commercial) zone district 
requirements and standards as the existing structure meets applicable 
setbacks from property lines and the proposal is an allowed use. 
 

c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 
Zoning and Development Code 
 
The proposal complies with the requirements of applicable portions of 
Chapter 4, Section 4.3.R, regarding telecommunication facilities.  By 
obtaining a Conditional Use Permit, the existing and proposed antennas 
will be in conformance with the Zoning and Development Code. 
 

d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project 
shall be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, 
business and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 



 

 

 
The property is surrounded by commercial facilities and is compatible with 
adjacent uses. 
 

e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through 
measures such as: 
 

1. Protection of privacy 
 
Landscaping and security fencing was approved and installed 
with the original site application.  Applicant will be required to 
preserve existing conditions and replace any damaged by the 
proposed installation. 
 

2. Protection of use and enjoyment 
 
The proposal will not adversely affect adjacent properties as the 
applicant is utilizing an existing facility. 
 

3. Compatible design and integration 
 
This proposal will be integrating two new antennas on an 
existing monopole cell tower within existing fenced and 
screened leased area.  The new ground based equipment box 
is within the fenced area also adjacent to existing structure. 

 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Stelera application, CUP-2009-055, for a Conditional Use Permit, I 
make the following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Growth Plan. 

 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 
3. The review criteria as specified in Section 4.3.R of the Zoning and 

Development Code. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the requested Conditional Use 
Permit, CUP-2009-055, with the findings and conclusions listed above. 
 



 

 

RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the request for a Conditional Use Permit for the Stelera application, 
file number CUP-2009-055, to be located at 1600 Ute Avenue, I move that the Planning 
Commission approve the Conditional Use Permit with the facts and conclusions listed in 
the staff report. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City Zoning Map 
Site Plan 
Tower Elevation 
Area Pictometry 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 
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Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 
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Existing City Zoning Map 

Figure 4 
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NOTE:  Mesa County is currently in the process of updating their zoning map. Please contact Mesa 
County directly to determine parcels and the zoning thereof." 

Site 

SITE 
C-2 
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Commercial 

Industrial 

Residential 
Medium 
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Attach 3 
Lookout Point Subdivision 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  April 14, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Lori V. Bowers 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Lookout Point Subdivision; PFP-2008-233 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Preliminary Subdivision Plan Approval 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2953 Highway 50 

Applicants:  
Gemini Development, LLC, owner; Ciavonne, 
Roberts and Associates, Keith Ehlers, 
representative.   

Existing Land Use: Single-family residence 
Proposed Land Use: Residential subdivision 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North US Highway 50 
South Single-family residences 
East Single-family residences 
West Single-family residence and church   

Existing Zoning: R-4 (Residential, 4 du/ac) 
Proposed Zoning: No change 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North County RSF-R, across Highway 50 
South R-4 (Residential, 4 du/ac) 
East County RSF-R 
West County RSF-R 

Growth Plan Designation: RML (Residential Medium Low, 2 to 4 du/ac) 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: A request for Preliminary Subdivision Plan approval for five 
single-family lots on 1.82 acres in an R-4 (Residential 4 du/ac) zone district. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approval of the proposed Preliminary Subdivision Plan. 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS 
 
1. Background:  The Lookout Point Subdivision consists of one, 1.82 acre parcel of 
land, located at 2953 Highway 50.  It is located on the south side of Highway 50 directly 
west of Buena Vista Drive in the Orchard Mesa area.  It is irregular in shape with 
varying topography.  The subject property was annexed into the City as the Krummel 
Annexation, with the effective date of January 18, 2008.  It was zoned R-4 (Residential, 
4 units per acre) upon annexation.  The zoning is consistent with the Growth Plan 
designation of Residential Medium Low, 2-4 dwelling units per acre.  A request to 
vacate the bulb portion of an offset cul-de-sac adjacent to 2953 Highway 50 was 
submitted to the City and approved with Ordinance 4025, but the entire bulb portion was 
reserved as a multi-purpose easement and encumbers proposed Lot 5 of the 
subdivision.  The existing home will remain, but the driveway will need to be relocated.  
Several out buildings will also need to be removed prior to the final plat being recorded. 
 
Density:  The overall density for the subdivision is 2.74 dwelling units per acre.  The 
minimum density in an R-4 (Residential, 4 du/ac) zoning district is 2 units per acre. 
 
Access:  Access to the subdivision is obtained from Buena Vista Drive, which comes off 
of the frontage road along US Highway 50.  Lot 1 will access directly from Buena Vista 
Drive while Lots 2, 3, 4 and 5 will access from an auto court, designated as Tract A on 
the plans. The existing driveway for the house, located on Lot 2, will need to be 
relocated prior to the Final Plat being recorded or included in the Development 
Improvement Agreement. 
 
Road Design:  Buena Vista Drive is an existing street.  The only additional right-of-way 
will be in the form of a private auto court, placed in Tract A and maintained by the Home 
Owners Association (HOA).  In an agreement with the City’s Public Works Department, 
the applicant will design a sidewalk for approximately 100 feet of frontage along the 
frontage road.  A deposit, in the form of cash or a letter of credit will be placed in lieu of 
constructing the actual sidewalk at this time. 
 
Open Space / Park:  No additional open space is proposed for this subdivision as it is 
zoned R-4.  There are no parks in the immediate area. 
 
Lot Layout:  The lots in the proposed subdivision range in size from 26,811 square feet 
(existing home site) to 11,131 square feet.  Lot 5 and Tract A are encumbered by a 
large multi-purpose easement that remains from the vacation of the cul-de-sac bulb on 
Buena Vista Drive. 
 
Landscaping:  A 5-foot landscaping tract will be required along the northern most part of 
Lot 1, in compliance with Section 6.5.G.5 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
Phasing:  No phasing is proposed for this subdivision. 
 



 

 

2. Section 2.8.B.2 of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
A preliminary subdivision plan can only be approved when it is in compliance with the 
purpose portion of Section 2.8 and with all of the following criteria: 
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, Urban Trails Plan and other 
adopted plans. 
 
The proposed Lookout Point Subdivision with a density of 2.74 dwelling units 
per acre is in compliance with the Growth Plan designation of Residential 
Medium Low (2-4 du/ac).  Buena Vista Drive is an existing local street.  Four 
of the five proposed lots will be accessed by an auto court off of Buena Vista 
Drive.  There are no designated trails in the area per the Urban Trails Master 
Plan.  The subject parcel is also located in the Orchard Mesa Planning Area. 
 

b. The Subdivision standards of Chapter Six. 
 
The standards of Chapter 6 have been met by providing direct access to a 
public street and by an auto court, placed in a Tract.  Storm water 
management has been addressed, but prior to the final plat being recorded, 
the Post-Construction BMP O & M Agreement will be required to be signed 
with the signed construction plans. 
 

c. The Zoning standards contained in Chapter Three. 
 
The dimensional standards of the R-4 zone district apply to this subdivision.  
Minimum lot size is 8,000 square feet. Lot sizes in this subdivision vary 
between 11,131 square feet to 26,811 square feet.  The R-4 zoning 
designation allows for detached and attached single-family and duplex 
dwellings.  The developer is proposing only single-family detached dwellings, 
as the requirements for a duplex cannot be met within this subdivision.  
Setbacks in the R-4 zoning district are 20-feet for the front; 25-feet for the 
rear; and 7-feet on the side. 
 

d. Other standards and requirements of this Code and all other City policies and 
regulations. 
 
The proposed subdivision meets all requirements of the Transportation 
Engineering Design Standards (TEDS) and Stormwater Management Manual 
(SWMM). 
 

e. Adequate public facilities and services will be available concurrent with the 
subdivision. 
 



 

 

There are existing utilities available; an 8 inch sanitary sewer line, owned by 
Orchard Mesa Sanitation; and an 8 inch Ute Water line.  Service extensions 
will be provided to all newly created lots. 
 

f. The project will have little or no adverse or negative impacts upon the natural 
or social environment. 
 
There appears to be no negative or adverse impacts to the natural or social 
environment due to this proposed subdivision. 
 

g. Compatibility with existing and proposed development on adjacent properties. 
 
The subdivision will be compatible with Red Tail Ridge Subdivision, adjacent 
to the south and the residential parcels to the east. 
 

h. Adjacent agricultural property and land uses will not be harmed. 
 
There are no agricultural uses adjacent to this property. 
 

i. Is neither piecemeal development nor premature development of agricultural 
land or other unique areas. 
 
It is neither piecemeal nor premature. 
 

j. There is adequate land to dedicate for provision of public services. 
 
Easements for utilities are shown on the plans, and the final plat shows that 
there are adequate easements and right-of-way for the utility providers. 
 

k. This project will not cause an undue burden on the City for maintenance or 
improvement of land and/or facilities. 
 
Proof of the formation of the Lookout Point Subdivision HOA has been 
provided.  Copies of the covenants are currently being reviewed to insure that 
the HOA will maintain the Tract provided for the benefit of the owners. 

 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS 
 
After reviewing the Lookout Point application, file number PFP-2008-233 for preliminary 
subdivision plan approval, I make the following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The proposed preliminary subdivision plan is consistent with the Growth Plan. 
 



 

 

2. The preliminary subdivision plan is consistent with the purpose of Section 2.8 
and meets the review criteria in Section 2.8.B.2 of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

3. The driveway to the existing home will need to be relocated or covered in the 
DIA, as well as all out buildings which will need to be removed prior to  the 
final plat being recorded. 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the proposed preliminary 
subdivision plan, file number PFP-2008-233 with the findings and conclusions listed 
above. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, I move that we approve the Preliminary Subdivision Plan for Lookout 
Point Subdivision, file number PFP-2008-233, with the findings and conclusions listed in 
the staff report. 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City and County Zoning Map 
Preliminary Plat Map 
Composite / Site Map 
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Aerial Photo Map 
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Future Land Use Map 
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Existing City and County Zoning Map 
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Composite / Site Plan 
 



 

 

Attach 4 
North Commercial Drive Co-locate 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  April 14, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Judith Rice 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Stelera Wireless Conditional Use Permit – CUP-2009-059 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 
 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 587 North Commercial Drive 

Applicants:  Stelera Wireless – Laurel Mitchell 
Existing Land Use: Leased area for existing cell tower 
Proposed Land Use: Existing Cell Tower 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Rain Gutter Contractor 
South Mesa Motors Storage 
East Medical Equipment Supply 
West Oil Field Equipment Supply 

Existing Zoning: C-2 (General Commercial) 
Proposed Zoning: C-2 (General Commercial) 

Surrounding Zoning: 
 

North C-2 (General Commercial) 
South C-2 (General Commercial) 
East C-2 (General Commercial) 
West C-2 (General Commercial) 

Growth Plan Designation: Commercial Industrial 

Zoning within density range? N/A Yes N/A No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A request for approval of a Conditional Use Permit for the 
addition of two antennas to be co-located on an existing monopole cell tower in a C-2 
(General Commercial) zone district. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of the Conditional Use Permit 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background 
 
The original telecommunications monopole tower was approved for construction by the 
City in 1999 to allow four separate wireless companies to co-locate antennas on the 
tower.  In 2001, one wireless company co-located and then, in 2002, three more.  In 
2003 a Conditional Use Permit for a fifth company to co-locate and a Variance to the 
required 260 foot setback from all property boundaries was approved to bring the facility 
into compliance.  Now, based on the Zoning and Development Code requirement in 
Table 3.5 requiring a Conditional Use Permit for all telecommunications facilities in all 
zone districts, Stelera Wireless, as the sixth applicant to apply for collocation of 
antennas, is applying for a Conditional Use Permit. 
 
2. Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
 
Requests for a Conditional Use Permit must demonstrate that the proposed 
development will comply with all of the following: 
 

a. All applicable site plan review criteria in Section 2.2.D.4 of the Zoning and 
Development Code and with the SSID, TEDS and SWMM Manuals. 
 
Section 2.2.D.4 

1. Adopted plans and policies such as the Growth Plan, applicable 
corridor or neighborhood plans, the major street plan, trails plan 
and the parks plans 
 
The site is zoned C-2 (General Commercial) with the Growth Plan 
Future Land Use Map identifying this area as Commercial 
Industrial, therefore, the installation of the co-located 
telecommunication antenna is consistent with the plans and policies 
of the Growth Plan. 
 

2. Conditions of any prior approvals 
 
The existing monopole cell tower was approved in 1999 under the 
regulations in effect at that time.  Fencing, signage and landscaping 
were required and installed with that project and are still in place. 
 

3. Other Code requirements including rules of the zoning district, 
applicable use specific standards of Chapter Three of the Zoning 
and Development Code and the design and improvement 
standards of Chapter Six of the Code. 
 
This proposal meets the requirements of the applicable codes as 
the existing structure meets the dimensional and performance 



 

 

standards of Chapter Three for the C-2 zone district, the 
improvement standards of Chapter Six and the regulations as 
outlined under Section 4.3.R for telecommunication facilities. 
 

4. Quality site design practices 
 
Applicant will be required to preserve the existing landscaping and 
fencing as previously approved or replace any damaged by the 
proposed installation. 
 

SSID Manual 
 

Petitioner has provided documents that meet City submittal 
standards and requirements.  Project Manager has determined that 
all required reports and structural analysis documents meet City 
standards. 
 

TEDS Manual 
 

The site has existing access points directly from Ute Avenue and 
no alterations are being proposed. 
 

SWMM 
 

This proposal will not be altering the site drainage or any drainage 
patterns. 
 

b. The underlying zoning district’s standards established in Chapter Three of 
the Zoning and Development Code 
 
The proposal is consistent with the C-2 (General Commercial) zone district 
requirements and standards as existing structure meets applicable 
setbacks from property lines and the proposal is an allowed use. 

 
c. The use-specific standards established in Chapters Three and Four of the 

Zoning and Development Code 
 
The proposal complies with the requirements of applicable portions of 
Chapter 4, Section 4.3.R, regarding telecommunication facilities.  By 
obtaining a Conditional Use Permit for this site, existing and proposed 
antennas will be in conformance with the Zoning and Development Code. 
 

d. Other uses complementary to, and supportive of, the proposed project 
shall be available including, but not limited to, schools, parks, hospitals, 
business and commercial facilities, and transportation facilities. 
 



 

 

The property is surrounded by commercial facilities and is compatible with 
adjacent uses. 
 

e. Compatibility with and protection of neighboring properties through 
measures such as: 
 

1. Protection of privacy 
 
Landscaping and security fencing was approved and installed 
with the original site application.  Applicant will be required to 
preserve existing conditions and replace any damaged by the 
proposed installation. 
 

2. Protection of use and enjoyment 
 
The proposal will not adversely affect adjacent properties as the 
applicant is utilizing an existing facility. 
 

3. Compatible design and integration 
 
This proposal will be integrating two new antennas within 
existing fenced and screened area.  The new equipment box 
located on the ground is also within the fenced area. 

 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Stelera Wireless application, CUP-2009-059, for a Conditional Use 
Permit, I make the following findings of fact, conclusions and conditions: 
 

1. The requested Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Growth Plan. 
 

2. The review criteria in Section 2.13.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
have been met. 
 

3. The review criteria as specified in Section 4.3.R of the Zoning and 
Development Code have been met. 

 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the requested Conditional Use 
Permit, CUP-2009-059, with the findings and conclusions listed above. 
 



 

 

RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the request for a Conditional Use Permit for the Stelera Wireless 
application, file number CUP-2009-059, to colocate two antennas on the existing 
telecommunication tower at 587 North Commercial Drive, I move that the Planning 
Commission approve the Conditional Use Permit with the facts and conclusions listed in 
the staff report. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Figure 1:  Site Location Map 
Figure 2:  Aerial Photo Map 
Figure 3:  Future Land Use Map 
Figure 4:  Existing City Zoning Map 
Figure 5:  Site Plan 
Figure 6:  Tower Elevation 
Figure 7:  Aerial Pictometry Photo 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 
Figure 1 
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Future Land Use Map 
Figure 3 

 
Existing City Zoning 

Figure 4 
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SITE PLAN 
Figure 5 

 
 



 

 

Tower Elevation 
Figure 6 

 



 

 

Aerial Pictometry Photo 
Figure 7 

 

 
 



 

 

Attach 5 
Jones Right-of-Way Vacation 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  April 14, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION PRESENTER:  Greg Moberg 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Jones Right-of-Way Vacation, VR-2009-043 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Vacation of Public Right of Way 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: South of Caribbean Drive and north of H Road 

Applicants:  Applicant: Janice Jones 

Existing Land Use: Undeveloped right-of-way 

Proposed Land Use: Extension of the adjoining residential property to 
the west and additional property for the park 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Single Family Residential 

South Single Family Residential 

East Single Family Residential/Public Park 

West Single Family Residential/Public Park 

Existing Zoning: N/A 

Proposed Zoning: R-1 (Residential 1 du/ac) 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 
 

North R-4 (Residential 4 du/ac)  

South R-1 (Residential 1 du/ac) and R-2 (Residential 2 
du/ac) 

East R-1 (Residential 1 du/ac) 

West R-4 (Residential 4 du/ac) CSR (Community 
Services and Recreation) 

Growth Plan Designation: N/A 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 
 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  Applicant is requesting to vacate 0.62 acres of 
undeveloped 27 Road right-of-way located south of Caribbean Drive and north of H 
Road. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Recommendation of approval to City Council. 
 



 

 

ANALYSIS 
 
1. Background 
 

The subject right-of-way was annexed in 1994 as part of the 563.20 acre Paradise 
Hills Annexation.  Over the last several decades the properties in the area have 
completely developed out in a mixture of low and medium density residential.  The 
portion of 27 Road under review has never been improved and serves as a driveway 
for 821 27 Road and as land adjacent to Paradise Hills Park.  Therefore there is no 
potential for additional development along this portion of 27 Road. 
 
In 1979 the Mesa County Board of County Commissioners vacated the west 30 feet 
of 27 Road.  The Applicant is now requesting the vacation of the remaining eastern 
30 feet.  If the vacation is approved, the southern half of the right-of-way would be 
incorporated into Lot 1, Paradise Hills Park and the northern half would be 
incorporated into Lot 2, Paradise Hills Park. 
 

2. Section 2.11.C of the Zoning and Development Code 
Requests to vacate any public right-of-way or easement must conform to all of the 
following: 
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan and other adopted plans 
and policies of the City. 
 
Vacation of the undeveloped portion of 27 Road right-of-way does not 
impact the Grand Valley Circulation Plan or policies adopted by the City of 
Grand Junction.  Current traffic and street patterns in this area provide for 
adequate circulation and connectivity to all existing lots and parcels and 
vacating the right-of-way will not inhibit any access. 
 
This undeveloped portion of 27 Road is not shown on the Urban Trails 
Map.  Therefore the vacation of this right-of-way will not affect the Urban 
Trails Plan. 
 

b. No parcel shall be landlocked as a result of the vacation. 
 
No parcel will be landlocked as a result of the vacation.  All parcels 
abutting this right-of-way have other access to public streets. 
 

c. Access to any parcel shall not be restricted to the point where access is 
unreasonable, economically prohibitive or reduces or devalues any 
property affected by the proposed vacation. 
 
Access will not be restricted to any parcel as a result of the vacation. 
 



 

 

d. There shall be no adverse impacts on the health, safety, and/or welfare of 
the general community and the quality of public facilities and services 
provided to any parcel of land shall not be reduced (e.g. police/fire 
protection and utility services). 
 
The vacation will not cause any adverse impacts on the health, safety or 
welfare of the general community or the quality of public facilities.  
Services provided to any parcel of land will not be reduced if this portion of 
27 Road right-of-way is vacated.  Existing utility easements and 
improvements are to remain. 
 

e. The provision of adequate public facilities and services shall not be 
inhibited to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 
 
Adequate public facilities and services will not be inhibited to any property.  
All existing utility easements will be reserved and retained. 
 

f. The proposal shall provide benefits to the City such as reduced 
maintenance requirements, improved traffic circulation, etc. 
 
The proposed vacation eliminates the need for any future maintenance 
requirements on the southern half of the right-of-way.  The northern half 
will continue to be owned by the City and will be incorporated into 
Paradise Hills Park. 

 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS 
 
After reviewing the Jones Right-of-Way Vacation application, VR-2009-043 for the 
vacation of a public right-of-way, I make the following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The requested right-of-way vacation is consistent with the Growth Plan. 
 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.11.C of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on item VR-2009-043, I move that the Planning Commission forward a 
recommendation of approval to the City Council on the requested public right-of-way 
vacation, with the findings and conclusions listed in the staff report. 
 
 
 



 

 

Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo Map 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City Zoning Map 
Ordinance 



 

 

Site Location Map 
Figure 1 

 

 

 
Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
 

 



 

 

Future Land Use Map 
Figure 3 

 
 

Existing City Zoning 
Figure 4 

 
 

 

  



 

 

CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________________ 
 
AN ORDINANCE VACATING A PORTION OF 27 ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY LOCATED 

SOUTH OF CARIBBEAN DRIVE AND NORTH OF H ROAD 
 
RECITALS: 
 
 A vacation of the dedicated right of way has been requested by the City of Grand 
Junction on behalf of an adjoining property owner.  The City shall reserve and retain all 
existing utility easements on, along, over, under, through and across the entire area of 
the right-of-way to be vacated. 
 
 The City Council finds that the request is consistent with the Growth Plan, Grand 
Valley Circulation Plan and Section 2.11 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
 The Planning Commission, having heard and considered the request found the 
criteria of the Code to have been met, and recommends that the vacation be approved 
with the reservation of the utility easement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAND JUNCTION THAT: 
 
The following described right-of-way is hereby vacated: 
 
The following 27 Road right-of-way is shown on Exhibit A as part of this Vacation 
description: 
 
A certain parcel of land lying in the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (SW 
1/4 SW 1/4) of Section 25, Township 1 North, Range 1 West of the Ute Principal 
Meridian, City of Grand Junction, County of Mesa, State of Colorado, being a portion of 
that certain 30.00 foot right of way for 27 Road, as described in Book 714, Page 534, 
Public Records of Mesa County, Colorado and being more particularly described as 
follows: 
 
BEGINNING at the Northwest corner of Lot 2 of Paradise Hills Park, as same is 
recorded in Book 4634, Pages 413 and 414, Public Records of Mesa County,  Colorado 
and assuming the West line of said Paradise Hills Park bears S 00°04’07” E with all 
other bearings mentioned herein in reference thereto; thence from said POINT OF 
BEGINNING, S 00°04’07” E along the West line of said Paradise Hills Park, a distance 
of 906.22 feet to a point being the Southwest corner of Lot 1, Paradise Hills Park; 
thence S 89°55’53” W, along a line perpendicular to the West line of the SW 1/4 SW 1/4 
of said Section 25, a distance of 30.00 feet to a point on the West line of the SW 1/4 SW 
1/4 of said Section 25; thence N 00°04’07” W along the West line of the SW 1/4 SW 1/4 
of said Section 25, a distance of 905.18 feet, more or less, to a point on the South line 



 

 

of Paradise Hills Filing No. Four, as same is recorded in Plat Book 11, Page 164, Public 
Records of Mesa County, Colorado; thence N 87°56’37” E along said South line, a 
distance of 30.02 feet, more or less, to the Point of Beginning. 
 
CONTAINING 27,173 Square Feet or 0.62 Acres, more or less, as described. 
 
 
Introduced for first reading on this 1st day of April, 2009 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this    day of   , 2009. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 ______________________________ 
 President of City Council 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 



 

 

 



 

 

Attach 6 
Country Squire 
 
CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION MEETING DATE:  April 14, 2009 
PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF PRESENTATION:  Scott D. Peterson 
 
AGENDA TOPIC:  Preliminary Subdivision Plan, Country Squire II Subdivision and 
Vacation of Utility and Irrigation Easement – PP-2008-054 
 
ACTION REQUESTED:  Approval of the Preliminary Subdivision Plan for Country 
Squire II Subdivision and Recommendation to City Council on the Vacation of a Utility 
and Irrigation Easement. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Location: 2074 Broadway and 2076 Ferree Drive 

Applicant:  The R Kenton Page Trust, Owner 
Vortex Engineering Inc., Representative 

Existing Land Use: Single-family home on each property 
Proposed Land Use: Residential subdivision 

Surrounding Land 
Use: 
 

North Single-family residential 
South Single-family residential 
East Single-family residential 
West Single-family residential 

Existing Zoning: R-4, Residential – 4 du/ac 
Proposed Zoning: N/A 

Surrounding 
Zoning: 
 

North RSF-4, Residential Single-Family – 4 units/acre 
(County) 

South RSF-2, Residential Single-Family – 2 units/acre 
(County) 

East RSF-4, Residential Single-Family – 4 units/acre 
(County) 

West RSF-4, Residential Single-Family – 4 units/acre 
(County) 

Growth Plan Designation: Residential Medium Low (2 – 4 du/ac) 

Zoning within density range? X Yes  No 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A request for Preliminary Subdivision Plan approval for 
forty-five (45) single-family detached lots and four (4) tracts of land to be developed in 
one (1) phase on 17.06 acres located at 2074 Broadway and 2076 Ferree Drive.  
Existing zoning is R-4, Residential – 4 units/acre Zoning District.  The applicant is also 
requesting to vacate an existing Utility and Irrigation Easement. 



 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of the proposed Preliminary Subdivision Plan – PP-
2008-054 and recommendation of approval of the requested Utility and Irrigation 
Easement vacation to the City Council finding the requests to be consistent with the 
Growth Plan and Sections 2.8 B. 2. and 2.11 C. of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
 
1. Background: 
 
The proposed Country Squire II Subdivision, a 45 lot residential subdivision, is located 
north of Broadway (Highway 340) and east of 20 ½ Road in the Redlands (2076 Ferree 
Drive and 2074 Broadway).  The existing two (2) properties each contain a single-family 
home.  The existing single-family home and accessory building located at 2074 
Broadway are scheduled to be demolished in anticipation of the proposed subdivision 
development while the existing single-family home and shop building located at 2076 
Ferree Drive is proposed to remain. 
 
Density:  The proposed density will be approximately 2.63 dwelling units per acre which 
meets the density requirements of the Zoning and Development Code.  The Growth 
Plan Future Land Use Map indicates this property to be Residential Medium Low (2 – 4 
du/ac) and the existing zoning designation for the properties is R-4, (Residential – 4 
units/acre). 
 
Access:  At this time, the proposed subdivision will take access from Ferree Drive, north 
of the intersection with Broadway (Highway 340).  Additional proposed stub streets will 
be constructed to the north, east and west that would be connected when the adjacent 
properties develop at some point in the future (see attached Preliminary Plan). 
 
TEDS Exception:  The applicant did receive a TEDS (Transportation Engineering 
Design Standards) Exception from the City for the requested sight distance of 450 feet 
at the intersection of Ferree Drive and Broadway (Highway 340) instead of the required 
496 feet.  The full sight window at this intersection is not clear because of existing 
vegetation and structures on the adjacent property to the east.  The TEDS Exception 
was approved based on the requirement that this area be cleared when the property to 
the east develops which will achieve the required sight distance of 496 feet.  In the 
meantime, the applicant has developed their proposed subdivision lot layout (proposed 
Tract A) to correspond with the required 496 foot sight distance. 
 
Vacation of Easement:  The applicant also wishes to vacate an existing Utility and 
Irrigation Easement for the benefit of the proposed residential subdivision.  The existing 
easement does not contain any utilities and was dedicated as part of the Ellie Heights 
Subdivision in 1958.  The request to officially vacate this easement is necessary so that 
the development of the proposed residential subdivision is not encumbered by this 
easement.  The easement requested to be vacated is not needed for the proposed 
subdivision. 



 

 

Tracts:  All of the proposed Tracts (A, B, C, and D) will be deeded to the Country Squire 
II Homeowner’s Association for ownership and maintenance responsibilities.  The 
applicant is proposing to construct a 4’ tall masonry wall and install landscaping within 
Tract A that will serve as a visual buffer and also for noise and privacy issues between 
the subdivision and Broadway (Highway 340) per the intent of the Zoning and 
Development Code and also the Redlands Area Plan.  The proposed masonry wall 
construction achieves a high quality design in terms of site planning, architectural 
design and provides a uniform look and appearance rather than each individual 
homeowner erecting fences made out of different materials.  Proposed Tracts B and C 
are classified as shared drive-ways to access four (4) lots each.  Proposed Tract D will 
serve as the subdivision’s detention pond and will be fully landscaped. 
 
Phasing:  The applicant is proposing to develop this subdivision within one (1) phase. 
 
2. Section 2.11 C. of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
The applicant is requesting the vacation of an existing Utility and Irrigation Easement as 
identified on the recorded subdivision plat for Lot 19, Ellie Heights Subdivision.  The 
vacation of the easement shall conform to the following:  
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, and other adopted plans 
and policies of the City. 
 
Granting this request to vacate an existing Utility and Irrigation Easement 
does not conflict with the Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan and 
other adopted plans and policies of the City of Grand Junction.  The 
easement requested to be vacated does not contain any utilities. 
 

b. No parcel shall be landlocked as a result of the vacation. 
 
No parcel will be landlocked as a result of the vacation of this Utility and 
Irrigation Easement. 
 

c. Access to any parcel shall not be restricted to the point where access is 
unreasonable, economically prohibitive or reduces or devalues any 
property affected by the proposed vacation. 
 
Access will not be restricted. 
 

d. There shall be no adverse impacts on the health, safety, and/or welfare of 
the general community and the quality of public facilities and services 
provided to any parcel of land shall not be reduced (e.g. police/fire 
protection and utility services). 
 



 

 

There will be no adverse impacts to the general community and the quality 
of public facilities and services provided will not be reduced due to the 
vacation request. 
 

e. The provision of adequate public facilities and services shall not be 
inhibited to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 
 
The provision of adequate public facilities and services will not be inhibited 
to any property as required in Chapter Six of the Zoning and Development 
Code as there are no utilities located within the requested easement 
vacation.  No adverse comments were received from the utility review 
agencies. 
 

f. The proposal shall provide benefits to the City such as reduced 
maintenance requirements, improved traffic circulation, etc. 
 
The proposed Utility and Irrigation Easement vacation will remove an 
unnecessary portion of the easement from the property.  No change in 
benefits to the City will be noticed as a result of the proposed vacation. 
 

3. Section 2.8 B. 2. of the Zoning and Development Code: 
 
A Preliminary Subdivision Plan can only be approved when it is in compliance with the 
purpose portion of Section 2.8 and with all of the following criteria: 
 

a. The Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, Urban Trails Plan and 
other adopted plans. 

 
The proposed residential development meets the goals and policies of the 
Growth Plan, Grand Valley Circulation Plan, Urban Trails Plan and other 
adopted plans.  A Pedestrian Easement will be dedicated across proposed 
Tract A for ingress and egress adjacent to Highway 340. 
 

b. The Subdivision standards of Chapter Six. 
 

The proposed residential development meets the subdivision design 
standards of Chapter Six per the determination by the Project Manager 
and the City Development Engineer. 
 

c. The Zoning standards contained in Chapter Three. 
 

The proposed residential development is in compliance with the R-4, 
Residential – 4 du/ac zoning district as specified in Chapter Three of the 
Zoning and Development Code. 
 



 

 

d. Other standards and requirements of this Code and all other City policies 
and regulations. 

 
The proposed residential development meets or exceeds all other 
applicable standards and requirements of the Zoning and Development 
Code and all other City policies and regulations. 
 

e. Adequate public facilities and services will be available concurrent with the 
subdivision. 

 
All required public facilities are either available or will be constructed with 
the proposed development. 
 

f. The project will have little or no adverse or negative impacts upon the 
natural or social environment. 

 
There are no adverse or negative impacts on the natural or social 
environment that have been identified with the proposed residential 
development. 
 

g. Compatibility with existing and proposed development on adjacent 
properties. 

 
The proposed residential development is compatible with the existing 
residential single-family development in the area.  The minimum lot size 
for the R-4 zoning district is 8,000 sq. ft.  The applicant is proposing an 
average minimum lot size of over 10,000 sq. ft. with the smallest proposed 
lot to be 9,907 sq. ft. 
 

h. Adjacent agricultural property and land uses will not be harmed. 
 

Adjacent single-family residential properties and agricultural properties will 
not be harmed by this residential development. 
 

i. Is neither piecemeal development nor premature development of 
agricultural land or other unique areas. 

 
The proposed residential development is neither piecemeal nor premature 
development of agricultural land or other unique areas.  Though the 
Redlands has agricultural land, this area is also experiencing residential 
development and this site is currently surrounded by residential land uses.  
It is conveniently located for all residential services including schools, 
grocery, hardware and retail services, not to mention adjacent access to 
Broadway (Highway 340). 
 
 



 

 

 
j. There is adequate land to dedicate for provision of public services. 
 

Adequate land for public services has been provided for the development. 
 

k. This project will not cause an undue burden on the City for maintenance or 
improvement of land and/or facilities. 

 
The City will not incur an undue burden for maintenance or improvement 
of land as a result of the proposed residential development. 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Country Squire II application, PP-2008-054 for Vacation of a Utility 
and Irrigation Easement, I recommend that the Planning Commission make the 
following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The proposed Utility and Irrigation Easement vacation is consistent with the 
goals and policies of the Growth Plan. 

 
2. The review criteria in Section 2.11 C. of the Zoning and Development Code 

have all been met for the proposed easement vacation. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission forward a recommendation of approval of 
the requested Utility and Irrigation Easement to the City Council with the findings and 
conclusions listed above. 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT/CONCLUSIONS: 
 
After reviewing the Country Squire II application, PP-2008-054 for Preliminary 
Subdivision Plan approval, I recommend that the Planning Commission make the 
following findings of fact and conclusions: 
 

1. The proposed Preliminary Subdivision Plan is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Growth Plan. 

 
2. The Preliminary Subdivision Plan is consistent with the purpose of Section 2.8 

and meets the review criteria in Section 2.8 B. 2. of the Zoning and 
Development Code. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
I recommend that the Planning Commission approve the proposed Preliminary 
Subdivision Plan, PP-2008-054 with the findings and conclusions listed above. 



 

 

 
RECOMMENDED PLANNING COMMISSION MOTION: 
 
First Motion: 
 
Mr. Chairman, on the vacation of a Utility and Irrigation Easement located 2074 
Broadway and 2076 Ferree Drive, I move that we recommend approval to the City 
Council for the vacation request making the findings of fact/conclusions as listed in the 
City Staff Report. 
 
Second Motion: 
 
Mr. Chairman, I move that we approve the Preliminary Subdivision Plan for Country 
Squire II, City file #PP-2008-054, with the findings and conclusions listed in the staff 
report. 
 
Attachments: 
 
Site Location Map / Aerial Photo 
Future Land Use Map / Existing City and County Zoning Map 
Preliminary Subdivision Plan 
Easement Resolution 
 
 



 

 

Site Location Map 

Figure 1 

BROADW
AY ST

BROADWAY ST

BROADWAY ST

BROADWAY ST

US HWY 340

20
 1

/2
 R

D

P
E

O
N

Y
 D

US HWY 340

RED
W

O
O

D CT

G
LA

C
IE

R
 D

R

20
 3

/4
 R

D

P
E

O
N

Y
 D

R

W SEQUOIA 

S
IE

R
R

A
 C

T

W SEQUOIA RD

S
 S

U
R

R
E

Y
 C

T

TA
M

AR
AC

K 
LN

 
U

R
R

E
Y

 C
T S TERRACE DR

20
 1

/2
 R

D

G
LA

C
IE

R
 D

R

JE
S

S
E

 W
A

Y

US HWY 340 US HWY 340

FERREE DR

US HWY 340

 

Aerial Photo Map 

Figure 2 
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Future Land Use Map 

Figure 3 
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Existing City and County Zoning 

Figure 4 
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NOTE:  Mesa County is currently in the process of updating their zoning map. Please contact Mesa County 
directly to determine parcels and the zoning thereof." 

SITE 
Residential 

Medium Low 
(2 – 4 du/ac.) 

Rural 
(5 – 35 ac/du) 

County Zoning 
RSF-2 

Estate 
(2 – 5 ac/du) 

County Zoning 
RSF-4 

R-4 
SITE 
R-4 

County Zoning 
RSF-4 

County 
Zoning RSF-4 



 

 

 
 

 
 



 

 

CITY OF GRAND JUNCTION 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 

A RESOLUTION VACATING A UTILITY AND IRRIGATION EASEMENT 

(COUNTRY SQUIRE II SUBDIVISION) 

LOCATED 2074 BROADWAY AND 2076 FERREE DRIVE 
 

RECITALS: 
 
 The applicant proposes to vacate an existing Utility and Irrigation Easement 
located at 2074 Broadway and 2076 Ferree Drive. 
 
 The City Council finds that the request is consistent with the Growth Plan, the 
Grand Valley Circulation Plan and Section 2.11 of the Zoning and Development Code. 
 
 The Planning Commission, having heard and considered the request, found the 
criteria of the Code to have been met, and recommends that the vacation be approved. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAND JUNCTION THAT: 
 
 The following described Utility and Irrigation Easement is hereby vacated subject 
to the listed conditions: 
 
1. Applicants shall pay all recording/documentary fees for the Vacation Resolution. 
 
The following easement vacation is shown on “Exhibit A” as part of this vacation of 
description. 
 
Beginning at the northwest corner of Lot 19, Ellie Heights as recorded in Plat Book 9 at 
Page 52, of the Mesa County, Colorado records; 
thence S32°06'15"E a distance of 100.37 feet to the northeast corner of said Lot 19; 
thence S47°39'18"W a distance of 145.13 feet to the southeast corner of said Lot 19; 
thence N41°58'47"W a distance of 15.00 feet along the south line of said Lot 19; 
thence N47°39'18"E a distance of 114.19 feet; 
thence N17°00'45"E a distance of 23.94 feet; 
thence N32°06'15"W a distance of 72.86 feet to the west line of said Lot 19; 
thence N48°24'56"E a distance of 10.00 feet to the point of beginning.  
 
This description was prepared by:  Michael W. Drissel PLS, 118 Ouray Ave. 
Grand Junction, CO. 81501 
 
PASSED and ADOPTED this    day of   , 2009. 
 



 

 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 President of City Council 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
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